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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. and Nissan North 

America, Inc. ("Nissan") ask this Court to accept review of 

Division I's published 61-page opinion. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Division I filed its published opinion on August 1, 2022. 

A copy is in the appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW 

Division I's errors meriting review implicate all four 

provisions of RAP 13.4(b) and fall under four broad categories: 

1. Division I second-guesses the trial court's 
findings of fact on misconduct when substantial evidence 
supported the trial court's detailed findings that both the 
Estate and its attorneys engaged in sanctionable 
misconduct. (RAP 13.4(b)(l )-(2)); 

2. Division I effectively declares the King County 
asbestos style orders and Washington court rules to be 
unconstitutional as beyond the court's rulemaking power 
because they affect "prelitigation conduct," contrary to 
this Court's precedent. (RAP l 3.4(b )(2), ( 4)); 

3. Division I finds an abuse of discretion by the trial 
court for its imposition of discovery sanctions against the 
Estate and its attorneys, despite their egregious 
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misconduct and the trial court's careful, detailed 
explanation of its sanction decision, as mandated by this 
Court's Burnet protocol. (RAP 13.4(b )(1 ), (2), ( 4)). 

4. Division I upholds a de minimis sanction against 

a Washington lawyer who failed to supervise pro hac vice 
out-of-state counsel, as he swore he would. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Division I's statement of the case, op. 3-13, largely glosses 

over the trial court's 15-page extensive findings of fact supported 

by substantial evidence 1 that the Estate and its attorneys 

committed egregious discovery violations and severe sanctions 

were merited under this Court's precedents. CP 898-913. See 

Appendix. Division I should not have reviewed the trial court's 

findings de nova, as it noted in its recent decision in City of 

Seattle v. Wiggins, _ Wn. App. 2d _, _ P.3d _, 2022 WL 

3713683 (2022), chiding a trial court for substituting its fact­

finding for the municipal court's in a RALJ review. 

1 The Estate did not assign error to many of the findings, 

app. br. at 1-3, nor did argue many of them in its brief. 
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The trial court's findings identified three general areas of 

discovery violations by the Lawrence Carroll Estate ("Estate") 

and its attorneys.2 The King County Superior Court's "style 

orders" for asbestos litigation mandate "lay down" discovery 

obligations for parties. Nevertheless, the Estate and its lawyers 

lied about Lawrence Carroll's asbestos exposure, telling the 

asbestos bankruptcy trusts that he only had take-home asbestos 

exposure from his father's employment, but claiming Nissan 

products caused the exposure in the present litigation. 3 The 

Estate's lawyers arranged for Lawrence's autopsy and 

Lawrence's wife, Marjorie, signed authorizations for it, but then 

hid its existence and lied about the autopsy in discovery so that 

2 Emblematic of the disdain of the Estate's lawyers for the 

rules was the fact that its out-of-state lawyers were not admitted 

pro hac vice until long after the action was commenced ( attorney 
Kim - a year; attorney Karst - 2.5 years). Their local counsel 
failed to supervise them as he swore to do. 

3 Division I even addresses this issue when the 

Estate/Counsel did not assign error to the trial court 's findings 
on it. Op. 37-3 8. 
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tissue blocks and other materials were destroyed after 

Lawrence's body was cremated. Despite knowing of that 

autopsy throughout this litigation, the Estate and its attorneys 

continued to hide its existence to Nissan and other defendants in 

the case. Finally, the Estate and its lawyers engaged in multiple 

delays in discovery,4 including failure to provide Social Security 

records access authorizations to Nissan that impacted Nissan's 

trial preparation. 

4 As context, the Estate filed this action on April 10, 2018. 
CP 878 (FF 7). The Estate's lay down discovery was due 60 days 

later. Nissan was joined in the case on October 9, 2018, CP 880 
(FF 13 ), and contacted the Estate's counsel about discovery on 
December 21, 2018. CP 118, 419-21. The Estate provided lay 
down discovery responses on September 28, 2018. RP AS went 
out of business on April 15, 2019. CP 882 (FF 21). The 
responses to Nissan's supplemental discovery were due on April 

30, 2019. They were provided on June 3, 2019. The Estate's 
trust claims were not produced until July 12, 2019, CP 880 (FF 
13 ), and Lawrence's Social Security records until May 31, 2019. 
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These four broad areas of deliberate discovery violations 

supported the trial court's dismissal of the Estate's complaint, 

and the entry of monetary sanctions against the Estate/Counsel. 5 

Two particular factual points in Division I's opinion bear 

specific reference. The trial court found that Nissan located 

autopsy report on its own in 2019. CP 878-79 (FF 8). That was 

not true, but, nevertheless, Division I treated that finding as a 

verity because Nissan did not assign error to it in its brief. Op. 4 

n.3, 49. There is no authority for the proposition that Nissan had 

to assign error to a finding supporting a decision upon which it 

was not aggrieved. RAP 3.1. To require Nissan to file a cross­

appeal to correct a factual error in a finding in such a setting is 

nonsensical. 

Division I also makes repeated reference to Nissan's 

counsel's contact with the Estate's local counsel, Thomas 

5 Respondents did not argue that the trial court's financial 

sanctions were erroneous, conceding their propriety. Division I 
affirmed those sanctions. Op. 13 n.13. The Estate/Counsel still 
have not paid them. 
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Owens, on an unmonitored email address. Op. 7-8, 26, 33. But 

as that court itself acknowledges, Owens responded to that 

contact, despite being made on that allegedly inactive account, 

op. 7-8, evidencing the fact that he actually received the 

December 21, 2018 tissue preservation letter, CP 419-20, sent to 

that account, and it ignores the repeated calls to the Estate's 

counsel as to late discovery responses. CP 111-12. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED6 

In its 61-page published opinion, Division I substitutes its 

own fact-finding on discovery misconduct for that of the trial 

court, and finds an abuse of discretion by the trial court on 

sanctions where there was none. The opinion even imposes 

unsupported restrictions on court rulemaking authority. Division 

I's published opinion will only invite parties and their counsel to 

play games in discovery. 

6 Division I does not address the trial court's 
determination that the Estate/Counsel violated RCW 7.21.010. 
CP 910 (CL 7). 
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(1) Division I's Opinion Conflicts with This Court's 
Discovery Jurisprudence 

Division I's published opinion merits review because it 

contradicts this Court's discovery decisions. RAP 13.4(b)( l ).7 

Division I's opinion condones the egregious discovery 

misconduct of the Estate and its counsel, even going so far as to 

repeatedly blame Nissan, the victim of such misconduct, for 

insisting on proper service under the Hague Convention, a 

jurisdictional requirement.8 Op. 7, 18, 28 n.22, 33, 34. In so 

doing, Division I lost sight of this Court's core principles on 

discovery. 

First, this Court has long eschewed "gamesmanship" and 

7 While these cases largely involve discovery abuses on 
the defense side, Washington's law on discovery, whether based 

on statute, court rule, or case law, applies with equal vigor to the 
plaintiff side. 

8 Broad v. Mannesmann Anlagenbau, A.G., 141 Wn.2d 
670, 680, 10 P.3d 371 (2000). That Convention's process 
preempts all inconsistent state law service methods. Kim v. 

Lakeside Adult Family Home, 185 Wn.2d 532, 555, 374 P.3d 121 
(2016). 
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trials "by ambush" m civil litigation9 m Washington's 

constitutionally-based discovery. Lowy v. Peacehealth, 174 

Wn.2d 769, 776, 777, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012). Parties must 

engage in discovery consistently with the letter, spirit, and 

purpose of the discovery rules. Wash. State Physicians Ins. 

Exchange & Ass 'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 342, 858 

P.2d 1054 (1993). The trial court recognized this standard. CP 

888 (CL 8). 

When a party engages in discovery violations, Magana v. 

Hyundai Motor America, 167 Wn.2d 570, 584, 220 P.3d 191 

(2009), 10 a court may impose sanctions under CR 26(g), CR 

9 In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 150-51, 916 P.2d 

411 ( 1996) (Talmadge, J. concurring, listing cases). 

10 Division I lost sight of the fact that a party's duty to 
accurately respond to discovery is also continuing in nature. It 
is not frozen in time at the point the discovery requests were first 
issued. Detwiler v. Gall Landau & Young Cons tr. Co., 42 Wn. 

App. 567, 572-73, 712 P.2d 316 (1986); M/V La Conte, Inc. v. 
Leisure, 55 Wn. App. 396, 401-02, 777 P.2d 1061 (1989); Gould 

v. N. Kitsap Business Park Management LLC, 192 Wn. App. 

1021, 2016 WL 236455 (2016) at *6. See also, Angelo v. 
Kindinger, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1046, 2022 WL 1008314 (2022) 
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37(b), or its inherent authority. See generally, Philip Talmadge, 

et al., When Counsel Screws Up: The Imposition and Calculation 

of Attorney Fees as Sanctions, 33 Seattle U. L. Rev. 437, 454-59 

(2010). The purposes of such sanctions are deterrence, 

punishment, compensation, and education. Magana, 167 Wn.2d 

at 584. "The sanctions should ensure that the wrongdoer does 

not profit from the wrong." Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 355. 

A trial court has broad discretion to fashion remedies for 

noncompliance with discovery rules. Rivers v. Wash. State 

Conference of Mason Contractors, 145 Wn.2d 674, 684, 41 P.3d 

1175 (2002); Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 

494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). Where a court decides to impose 

default, dismissal of a complaint, or witness exclusion as a 

sanction, a court must assess, as the trial court did here, the three 

(court determines that under RPC 3.3, attorney has continuing 
obligation to correct material false statements in letter sent to 
arbitrator). The Estate and its attorneys continued to lie about 

key discovery matters throughout the course of this case. As of 
the time of the trial court's order, the Estate and its attorneys had 
not produced that report to Nissan. CP 882 (FF 21 ), 884 (FF 31 ). 
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so-called Burnet factors. Burnet, 131 Wn.2d at 494; Rivers, 145 

Wn.2d at 685; Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 216-17, 274 P.3d 

336 (2012); Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 33 8-40, 314 

P.3d 3 80 (2014); Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368-69, 357 

P.3d 1080 (2015). The trial court clearly understood this 

standard, CP 888 (CL 9), and made the requisite findings. CP 

884-86 (FF 31-39). 1 1  

Dismissal, Rivers, 145 Wn.2d at 686 (citing cases), or a 

default judgment, Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 583-92; Apostolis v. 

City of Seattle, 101 Wn. App. 300, 3 P.3d 198 (2000); Frisby v. 

Seattle University, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1070, 2020 WL 2843499, 

review denied, l 96 Wn.2d 1027 (2020); TrueBlue, Inc. v. 

Marchel, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1074, 2020 WL 2857610 (2020), may 

be appropriate discovery sanctions. 

1 1  A trial court's findings on sanctions are reviewed for 
substantial evidence and the sanctions themselves are reviewed 

for an abuse of discretion. Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 587, 590; JK. 
v. Bellevue Sch. Dist., 20 Wn. App. 2d 291, 302-03, 500 P.3d 13 8 
(2021). 
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This Court defers to trial courts' sanctions decision 

making. Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 339; Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 583 

(" . . .  since the trial court is in the best position to decide an issue, 

deference should normally be given to the trial court's 

decision."). Division I failed to honor the trial court's detailed 

decision, substituting its own fact-finding and sanctions decision 

for the trial court's. 

(2) Both the Estate and Its Attorneys Willfully Violated 
Court Orders, Court Rules, and Statutes 

The Estate/Counsel failed to comply with the King County 

asbestos style order lay down discovery requirements 1 2  as to all 

defendants in the case, despite Division I's narrow focus on 

Nissan. Op. 33-34. 

Division I does agree half-heartedly that the Estate's 

attorneys committed sanctionable discovery violations. Op. 4 7-

1 2  The very purpose of lay down discovery is to avoid 

discovery flaps and to compel parties to exchange basic case 
information early in the case. 
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56. But Division I downplays the extreme prejudicial effect of 

those violations. 

Division I believes that the Estate itself did not commit 

sanctionable misconduct because the Estate was somehow not 

responsible for its lawyers' misconduct. Op. 56. 1 3  Indeed, 

although Marjorie verified the discovery responses, op. 6-7, and 

testified untruthfully in her deposition, Division I seemingly 

determines that she was justified in being untruthful because of 

her age. Op. 44. Such ageism is unjustified. Division I 

substituted its own fact-finding for the extensive trial court 

findings that the Estate and its attorneys committed sanctionable 

1 3  Division I cites no authority for the proposition that in 
sanctioning a party for discovery violations, courts analyze the 
client's conduct apart from that of its lawyers. A court has 

discretion to levy sanctions against a client, its lawyers, or both. 
See, e.g., Camicia v. Cooley, 197 Wn. App. 1074, 2017 WL 

679988 (2017). Ultimately, clients are responsible for willful 
discovery violations by their counsel. By its terms, CR 3 7 ( d) 
warns parties and their attorneys that they are subject to sanctions 
including the dismissal of the action. CR 37(b)(2)(C). The 

clients' recourse for the lawyer's misconduct is an action for 
professional negligence/breach of fiduciary duty. 
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misconduct for the pattern of delay, half-truths, and outright 

deception with regard to their obligation for lay down discovery 

under the King County style orders; those findings were 

supported by substantial evidence. 

(a) The Estate/Counsel Hid Lawrence's Other 

Alleged Asbestos Exposure 

The Estate's responses to discovery requests as to 

Lawrence's other asbestos exposures (lay down interrogatory 13) 

were entirely misleading. CP 879-80 (FF 11-13, 15-16), 882-83 

(FF 24-25), 884 (FF 31-32), 887 (CL 1). The Estate/Counsel 

deliberately failed to relate Lawrence's prior asbestos exposure, 

as the Estate conceded by not assigning error to those findings. 

The Estate received money from asbestos bankruptcy trusts for 

Lawrence's childhood take-home exposure to asbestos from his 

father's shipyard work caused his mesothelioma, only to claim 

in this case that his exposure to Datsun/Nissan products was 

causative. CP 878 (FF 11 ). The trial court correctly found these 

responses to be a sanctionable violation. CP 880-81 (FF 13, 15), 
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882-83 (FF 24-25). 

Strangely, although the Estate did not assign error to the 

trial court's findings on this issue, Division I nevertheless 

addressed the findings anyway, concluding that the Estate's 

misrepresentations in responding to lay down interrogatory 13 

concerning Lawrence's asbestos exposure "were not materially 

inconsistent with her claims filed herein." Op. 3 7. That is simply 

wrong. The Estate, through Marjorie, told the bankruptcy trusts 

that Lawrence's only asbestos exposure was his take-home 

exposure, making no mention of asbestos exposure from Nissan 

products. It then told Nissan that Lawrence had no non­

occupational exposures like the childhood take-home exposures 

for which it received compensation from the trusts. That was 

inconsistent. 

(b) The Estate's Secret Autopsy 

Despite the very precise directives in both the 2011 and 

2018 style orders concerning autopsies (see Appendix), the 

Estate/Counsel had an autopsy performed after Lawrence's 
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death, paid for with attorney Karst's credit card. The 

Estate/Counsel kept the autopsy secret, never divulging the 

photos or the autopsy report, or preserving tissue samples from 

the autopsy for defense examination; Lawrence's body was 

cremated. No independent examination of Lawrence's exposure 

to asbestos was possible. 

(i) The Destruction of Lawrence's Tissue 

Although the trial court found that the Estate/Counsel 

condoned the destruction of Lawrence's tissue samples after the 

secret autopsy and before the cremation of his body, CP 881 (FF 

18), 882 (FF 23), CP 88 l (FF 18), 882 (FF 23), Division I claims 

that the Estate had no duty to preserve that evidence, op. 20-33, 

although it later agrees that the Estate violated lay down 

interrogatory 22 by failing to preserve tissue specimens. Op. 53. 

But under § 6.3 of both King County style orders, the 

Estate had a preservation duty. The 2011 order, in effect when 

the complaint was filed, unambiguously directed the Estate to 

prese�e tissue samples and other autopsy evidence so that a 
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defense pathologist could have "access to tissue samples, slides, 

and other matters reasonable [sic] necessary to make his/her own 

diagnosis and/or causation opinions." In fact, the rule directs 

plaintiffs to provide all reports/information from the pathologist 

performing the autopsy to defense counsel. 1 4  

Recognizing that the Estate/Counsel clearly violated those 

2011/2018 discovery orders, Division I sua sponte determines 

that the orders are invalid. While the Estate argued that there was 

no duty to preserve the evidence, br. of appellants at 17-23, 

Division I decides, with respect to an argument that the Estate 

never made, that any court rules relating to "prelitigation 

conduct" are beyond the courts' power. Division I's opinion 

invalidates the King County asbestos style orders and our civil 

rules on discovery. Op. 18 (" . . .  neither our Supreme Court nor 

the superior courts are authorized to promulgate court rules that 

impose duties on nonlitigants before a lawsuit commences."), 

1 4  As did Nissan's December 21, 2018 letter. CP 419-20. 
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22-24. 1 5  

This Court has broad statutory (RCW 2.04.190) 1 6  and 

inherent authority 1 7  to make court rules for court "practice and 

procedure." State v. Smith, 84 Wn.2d 498, 501, 527 P.2d 674 

(1974) (bail pending appeal); State v. Fitzsimmons, 94 Wn.2d 

858, 620 P.2d 999 (1980) (access to counsel); Emwright v. King 

County, 96 Wn.2d 53 8, 637 P.2d 656 (1981) (refund of jury 

deposit). 1 8  This Court in State v. Templeton, 148 Wn.2d 193, 59 

1 5  Where a court sua sponte decides an argument a party 

never made, without notice to the adverse party like Nissan, that 
adverse party's due process rights are violated. Matthews v. 
Westford, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1043, 2020 WL 7212317 (2020). 

1 6  The Court's statutory rulemaking authority extends 

broadly to "taking and obtaining evidence." 

1 7  Both this Court and the superior courts have inherent 

authority to promulgate rules, Emwright, 96 Wn.2d at 543, and 
to sanction parties and counsel for violation of those rules. 

Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 339-40. 

1 8  Rules of practice/procedure ordinarily relate to the 

courts' operation, not substantive law, i.e., norms for societal 
conduct and punishments for the violation of them, although the 
distinction is not always clear. Smith, 84 Wn.2d at 499-501. 
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P.3d 632 (2002), made clear that rulemaking extended to 

prelitigation actions, i.e. police warnings to persons arrested for 

DUI and the right to counsel. Division I did not cite Templeton, 

a case that obviously belies its entire sua sponte justification for 

the Estate's style orders/civil rules disobedience. 

Similarly, superior courts have constitutional rulemaking 

authority. Wash. Const. art. IV, § 24; CR 83. See also, State ex 

rel. Faster- Wyman Lumber Co. v. Superior Court for King Cnty., 

148 Wash. 1, 10, 267 Pac. 770 (1928). 

Nothing in the case law, particularly after Templeman, 

suggests that the statutory or inherent rulemaking authority of 

this Court does not extend to prelitigation activities. 1 9  Nor could 

it. Virtually all discovery regulated by court rule pertains to 

prelitigation conduct of parties. To say otherwise would mean 

that litigants are free to destroy documents "prelitigation" with 

1 9  GR 9, implementing this Court's rulemaking power, 

says nothing resembling such a limitation. Rather, rulemaking is 

designed to ensure "a fair and expeditious process," GR 9(a), 
something the Estate/Counsel prevented here. 
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impunity and no discovery rules could stop that. 

This Court must grant review to correct Division I's 

presumptuous effort to define this Court's and the courts' 

rulemaking authority in a published opinion. 

(ii) Untruthful and Misleading 
Interrogatory Responses 

The Estate failed to truthfully respond to lay down 

interrogatories 16, 20, 21, and 22. CP 902-03 (FF 15). For 4½ 

years, the Estate/Counsel concealed Lawrence's autopsy, not 

only failing to comply with the King County style orders, but CR 

33 and CR 34, too. Lay down interrogatories 21 and 22 

mandated that the Estate disclose the autopsy report. CP 880-81 

(FF 15). Even Division I reluctantly agreed. Op. 47-55. 

Marjorie signed the discovery responses, op. 6-7, and the 

Estate never supplemented or corrected its false and incomplete 

responses to the lay down interrogatories, in spite of two requests 

by Nissan's counsel to do so. It knowingly concealed the 

autopsy, materials from it, and documentation about it. Marjorie 
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also signed the autopsy authorization; its counsel knew the 

response was false because the Karst firm had arranged for the 

autopsy and paid for it with Karst' s credit card. 

In addition to its untruthful denial that an autopsy 

occurred, the Estate/Counsel failed to identify the pathologist the 

Estate retained who reviewed autopsy materials to which only 

the Estate was privy, and then diagnosed an asbestos disease. 

The Estate claimed it did not need to disclose that pathologist's 

identity under lay down interrogatory 16. That contention is 

baseless, as the trial court found. CP 880-81 (FF 15). Division 

I's attempt to parse the language of that interrogatory, op. 39, 

claiming that a pathologist is not an expert diagnosing 

Lawrence's condition 1s unsupportable when those 

interrogatories were calculated to disclose professionals who 

interpreted autopsy findings. 

The Estate even violated lay down interrogatory 20 as to 

the death certificate. Contrary to Division I's assertion that no 

discovery violation was associated with that certificate, op. 40, 
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the Estate provided the misinformation for that official document 

to Dr. Comer, Lawrence's own physician, who erroneously 

signed the death certificate stating "no autopsy." Neither the 

Estate nor Karst informed Dr. Comer or the Washington State 

Bureau of Statistics that the death certificate contained false 

information or corrected the misinformation during the course of 

the litigation. 

(iii) Untruthful Deposition Testimony on 
the Secret Autopsy 

The trial court based its decision, in part, on untruthful 

deposition answers, CP 881 (FF 16), but Division I seemed to 

believe that Marjorie and Doug Carroll did not lie in their 

depositions because they were somehow not "willfully evasive." 

Op. 44. Substantial evidence supported the trial court finding. 

Division I even blames Nissan for not conducting the 

depositions differently regarding the autopsy report that it 

suspected existed. Op. 46. 20 

20 While Nissan's counsel asked questions that assumed 
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Marjorie was asked in her deposition whether an autopsy 

had been performed, and she equivocated. She knew there had 

been an autopsy because she signed the autopsy authorization 

agreement. Op. 3. Attorney Kim defended her deposition. He 

did not instruct Marjorie to provide a direct response, nor did he 

instruct her to correct her false response, even though Karst paid 

for the autopsy with his credit card, as the Estate has admitted in 

not assigning error to the trial court's FF 8. CP 878. Similarly, 

Doug was deposed, and he, like Marjorie, equivocated in 

violation of CR 30(h)(4). Attorney Karst took that deposition. 

Again, he knew an autopsy had been performed. He failed to 

direct Doug to respond directly or to correct any mistake about 

the autopsy. 

no autopsy had occurred, the questions were asked that way 
because the Estate/Counsel had deliberately provided false 
responses to the interrogatories and provided a death certificate 
that they knew falsely stated that no autopsy had occurred. 

Nissan conducted the depositions on the belief that the 
Estate/Counsel answers to discovery and their documents 
produced were true. 
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Division I's assertion that Marjorie/Doug's answers are 

not lies, op. 43-44, does not withstand serious scrutiny. To assert 

that Marjorie did not know that an autopsy occurred even though 

she authorized it, defies common sense. Moreover, the family 

knew an autopsy occurred as Division I's reference to Marjorie's 

daughter Dana's actual knowledge of the autopsy evidences. Op. 

46. 

The trial court's determination that these evasive 

responses were discovery violations is fully supported. CP 903 

(FF 16) ("It is not credible that the deceased's son or the widow 

who arranged for the autopsy with Karst would not know that an 

autopsy had been performed on their father and husband."). 

( c) Estate/Counsel Dilatory Tactics 

The trial court found that the dilatory conduct of the 

Estate/Counsel delayed resolution of the case. CP 904-06 (FF 

24-31 ). Such conduct was "repeated and continuing and part of 

gamesmanship by Plaintiff and her counsel." CP 906 (FF 31 ). 

The court attributed the need for two trial continuances at least 
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m part to the Estate/Counsel's disruptive conduct, including 

among other things, failure to disclose witnesses. CP 905 (FF 

26). Division I agreed. Op. 55. 

Lay down discovery contemplates that the parties will, in 

good faith, exchange information early in the litigation. The 

Estate's attorneys failed to provide Nissan and other defendants 

with Social Security authorizations, for example, for a year, as 

the trial court found. CP 883 (FF 27). 

In sum, Division I's conclusion that the Estate did not 

commit discovery violations when it concedes that its counsel 

did so is wrong on these facts. This Court should grant review 

to reaffirm its traditional deference to trial court fact-finding on 

discovery violations. 

(3) The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion under 

Burnet in Imposing Dismissal as a Discovery 
Sanction 

A sanction decision cannot be disturbed on appeal absent 

a clear abuse of discretion, which is present only when the trial 

court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, or based on 
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untenable grounds. Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 339; Burnet, 131 

Wn.2d at 494; Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 583; Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 

216. The trial court gave ample reasons for its sanctions 

decision, CP 876-91 (FF 31-39), but Division I largely ignored 

them. Review is merited. 

(a) The Estate/Counsel Discovery Violations 
Involved Willful and Deliberate Violations of 
Court Orders 

The trial court thought carefully about whether the 

discovery violations by the Estate/Counsel were willful and 

deliberate. CP 884 (FF 31-32). The court rejected the 

"unbelievable justifications" they offered. CP 884 (FF 32). But 

Division I concluded the violations were not willful, op. 44-47, 

misapplying this Court's rule that violation of discovery rules is 

willful if done in violation of a court order or without reasonable 

excuse or justification. Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 584. The facts 

of this case are more egregious than Magana's. 

Largely omitted from Division I's opinion is the fact that 

the asbestos style orders requiring lay down discovery are court 
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orders. When the Estate/Counsel lied about the autopsy or gave 

misleading responses on the bankruptcy trust claims, for 

example, they deliberately defied a court order. 

Moreover, the Estate/Counsel continuously withheld the 

autopsy materials and report throughout this case and produced 

a death certificate that they knew contained false information. 

This Burnet element was satisfied. 

(b) The Discovery Violations Materially 
Prejudiced Nissan's Trial Preparation 

The misconduct of the Estate/Counsel met this element. 

CP 906-07 (FF 33-35). Division I, again finding facts, claims 

that Nissan failed to mitigate any prejudice to it from those 

violations. It was wrong. 

Nissan did not delay seeking relief. Nissan only 

confirmed the existence of an autopsy report shortly before its 

motion to strike. In January 2020, Nissan became aware of an 

obscure reference to an autopsy form in one of Lawrence's 

hospice records. Amidst trial preparations and discovery, and 
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COVID-related restrictions on personal interactions, Nissan's 

counsel then flagged for follow-up the reasons for this language. 

Despite several requests for the Estate to supplement responses 

to its discovery responses, and its ongoing obligation to 

supplement its discovery responses; it did not correct its false 

responses that there had not been an autopsy, nor did it produce 

the autopsy report. Nissan's counsel continued to investigate the 

existence of an autopsy in late May and early June, 2020. CP 

965. Nissan did not obtain a copy of the actual autopsy report 

from Dr. Hartenstein until July 13, 2020. CP 968.2 1  Once Nissan 

received the report, it investigated its authenticity and verified its 

contents while preparing for trial - witness preparation, motions 

practice, and assembly and analysis of well over 1,000 exhibits. 

On September 14, 2020, two months after receiving the report, 

Nissan moved to strike the Estate's complaint. CP 67-102. 

2 1  The trial court's FF 8 was erroneous as to that date. 

Despite its willingness to substitute its fact-finding for that of the 
trial court elsewhere, Division I adopted the trial court's error. 
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Nissan did not delay action, as Division I asserts, particularly 

where Nissan received the report in July 2020. 

The trial court's prejudice findings are fully supported. 

CP 665-73. Autopsy evidence is material, going directly to one 

of two central issues in the case: Did Lawrence had an asbestos-

related disease? If so, what was it?22 The Estate's bankruptcy 

court trust claims that Lawrence's five years of take-home 

shipyard exposure as a child caused his disease goes to the 

second issue. Assuming Lawrence had an asbestos-related 

disease, what caused it? The evidence the Estate/Karst 

22 Datsun and Nissan vehicles' asbestos-containing parts 

contained only commercial chrysotile asbestos fibers that were 
encapsulated in a bonded matrix. Many products used in the 
World War II shipyards, where Lawrence's father worked as a 

welder, contained amphibole asbestos, a highly carcinogenic 
asbestos, that is well documented to cause disease in humans, as 
compared to chrysotile asbestos, that is less carcinogenic. 
Notwithstanding Division I's disagreement, op. 12 n.12, the 

Estate's own expert, Dr. Moline, testified to amphibole asbestos 
in shipyards. CP 93, 570. Critically, had Lawrence's lung tissue 

been preserved, Nissan could have had their own experts conduct 
a fiber burden analysis to see if his lungs contained amphibole or 
chrysotile asbestos fibers and the quantity of those fibers. 
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deliberately withheld was material on these issues. 

Had the Estate complied with its lay down obligations, 

Nissan and the other defendants would have been able to 

independently examine and assess what caused Lawrence's 

mesothelioma. As in Magana, that crucial evidence no longer 

exists. Not only were Lawrence's autopsy samples destroyed, 

Nissan could not interview or depose RP AS employees 

regarding the autopsy� RPAS was dissolved by California in 

April 2019. CP 882 (FF 21). On June 8, 2018, the case schedule 

deadline, RP AS would still have been in business, Nissan and 

other defendants would have been able to interview RP AS 

employees, and they may have been able to obtain tissue that has 

since been destroyed. (RP AS was required to keep the histology 

tissue blocks indefinitely. CP 407). That tissue that may have 

exonerated Datsun/Nissan products as a cause of Lawrence's 

death. Had photographs of the autopsy been preserved, they may 

have shown other tumors or co-morbidities. This type of 

evidence cannot be duplicated and is now lost. 
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By contrast, the Estate's pathologist, Dr. Staggs, who was 

never disclosed to Nissan, had the opportunity to do testing of 

the autopsy specimens, organs, and tissue, and examine the type 

and the number of tumors, something the defense could not do. 

Marjorie directed that Lawrence's remains be disposed of 

6 months after the autopsy report was finalized. On the day of 

the autopsy, the Estate directed that Lawrence's remains be 

cremated, which occurred seven days later. The tissue blocks 

that RPAS was to retain indefinitely were lost when RPAS went 

out of business. Blocks that were available when the Estate 

served its false lay down responses had disappeared by July 

2020. 

Nissan had already deposed the Estate's expert witnesses. 

All testified they did not know of an autopsy in this case. Nissan 

was denied the opportunity to question them regarding the 

autopsy that the Estate not only hid from Nissan and the other 

defendants, but also from its own experts, Dr. Comer, Dr. 

Moline, Dr. Zhang, and Barry Castleman. 
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The Estate's delays in disclosing witnesses, producing 

Social Security records, and failing to tum over vital evidence 

plainly prejudiced Nissan's trial preparation. CP 883 (FF 26-27), 

885 (FF 34-35). 

Division I blames Nissan for the impact of the Estate/Karst 

discovery violations by repeatedly referencing Nissan's 

insistence on service under the Hague Convention. But that court 

overlooks the fact that Hague Convention service is 

jurisdictional, and regardless of when Nissan formally entered 

the case, other defendants were already in the case and were also 

prejudiced by the Estate's failure to meet its discovery 

obligations. 

Division I erred in its analysis of this Burnet factor. 

( c) No Lesser Sanction than Dismissal Sufficed 

The trial court carefully assessed whether lesser sanctions 

might suffice, and properly concluded that they would not. CP 
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885-86 (FF 36-39).23 Again, Division I substituted its own fact­

finding for the trial court's, going so far as to decide that the 

Estate's attorneys might deserve harsher sanctions. Op. 57-59. 

Division I asserts that spoliation is not present in this case, 

op. 28-31, but it then overrides the trial court's careful 

determination on lesser sanctions because the trial court did not 

consider an adverse inference instruction. Op. 31-32. Neither 

the Estate/Counsel, nor Division I, offer a single case in which 

an adverse inference instruction has been employed to sanction 

a discovery violation. Moreover, they seemingly believe that 

such a sanction is not "severe" as they nowhere assert that it is 

subject to the Burnet protocol. And they are vague about its 

23 This Court has imposed severe sanctions where a party 

refused to provide essential evidence in discovery. See, e.g., 
Magana, 167 Wn.2d at 588-89 ( defendant failed to disclose other 

claims related to plaintiffs that it knew about); Mayer v. Sta 
Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 681, 132 P.3d 115 (2006) 

( defendants failed to disclose a memorandum from one of its 
managers that "admitted that the [product at issue] was 

inherently flawed"); Fisons, 122 Wn.2d at 352 (defendant failed 
to produce "smoking gun documents" responsive to plaintiffs 
discovery requests). 
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scope. What would such an instruction say? Would the 

instruction say that because of the Estate's misconduct the jury 

would be entitled to infer that Lawrence was not exposed to 

asbestos that resulted in his mesothelioma? This Court should 

decide if an adverse inference instruction is an appropriate 

sanction for a CR 26/CR 37 discovery rule violation. RAP 

l 3.4(b )( 4). 

Due to its discovery violations, the Estate had an unfair 

advantage in preparing for trial. Nothing could even the playing 

field at that point. The trial court's finding of substantial 

prejudice to Nissan, CP 885 (FF 35), is amply supported. A 

continuance would have benefited the Estate. CP 907-08 (FF 

36). Exclusion of autopsy evidence might actually help the 

Estate by hiding what might be unfavorable evidence. CP 908 

(FF 37). Monetary sanctions would not address the prejudice 

suffered by Nissan or the judicial process. Id. (FF 38). 

Division I erred in its treatment of the lesser sanction 

aspect of the Burnet protocol. 
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In sum, the sanctions component of Division I's opinion 

contradicts Washington case case. Review is merited. RAP 

13 .4(b )( 1 )-(2). 

( 4) Division I Condoned the Trial Court's Error on the 
Sanction of Attorney Owens 

Attorney Owens violated both his supervisory duty over 

pro hac vice attorney Karst and engaged in his own violations of 

CR 26/3 7 in representing the Estate. Division I generally agreed. 

Op. 58-59. The trial court's limitation of the sanction for such a 

violation, CP 1379-80, with which Division I agreed, op. 59-60, 

was error meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Owens was just as responsible as the Karst firm and the 

Estate for discovery violations.24 He was the sole Estate counsel 

from April 10, 2018 to August 19, 2019. CP 1356. Moreover, 

he signed multiple key discovery pleadings attesting to the 

24 Owens did not appeal the trial court's January 19, 2021 
order, rendering all of the trial court's findings verities on 
review. 
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veracity of their contents. CR 26(g). Nissan reply br. at 13-16 

(recounting Owens' active role in the case). 

Division I's opinion gives short shrift to Washington 

attorneys' ethical obligation in supervising pro hac vice counsel, 

claiming nothing in APR 8 makes Owens jointly responsible for 

financial sanctions. Op. 60. Supervising attorneys like Owens 

are "lawyers of record" under APR 8(b) in any case in which the 

pro hac vice lawyer appears. That attorney is "responsible for 

the conduct" of the pro hac vice attorney and must be "present at 

proceedings unless excused by the court or tribunal." This is not 

a mere pro forma relationship under the rule. Hahn v. Boeing 

Co., 95 Wn.2d 28, 621 P.2d 1263 (1980); see Dorsey v. King 

County, 51 Wn. App. 664, 670-71, 754 P.2d 1255, review denied, 

111 Wn.2d 1022 (1988) (acknowledging local counsel's 

supervisory responsibilities). 

Division I's casual tolerance of supervising attorneys' 

abuse of their supervisory responsibilities under APR 8(b) opens 
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the door to mischief this Court should not tolerate. Review is 

merited. RAP 13 .4(b )(1 ), ( 4 ). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Division I's published op1mon 1s flawed. The 

Estate/Counsel's multiple, serious discovery violations not only 

prejudiced all defendants, they impugned the integrity of our 

justice system itself. Division I's opinion condones that 

misconduct, offering a roadmap to parties on how to disobey 

discovery rules and avoid appropriate sanctions. 

This Court should grant review of that decision to reaffirm 

its oft-stated principles on discovery and sanctions. Nissan is 

entitled to its fees on appeal. RAP 18.l (a). 

This document contains 6,016 words, excluding the parts 

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17. 
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APPENDIX 



2011 style order § 6.3 : 

Autopsy and Pathology Reports. 

(a) Plaintiffs' counsel shall attempt to obtain authorizations for 
autopsies from each plaintiff, and autopsies should be conducted 

for each plaintiff who expires for any reason during the pendency 
of this litigation, subject to religious or ethical considerations 
personal to that plaintiff or the immediate family. Defendants 
may provide a defense pathologist at their cost to observe the 

autopsy, who may request additional tissues be taken but shall 
not otherwise participate in the performance of the autopsy. The 
defense pathologist shall be provided with access to tissue 
samples, slides, and other matters reasonably necessary to make 
his/her own diagnosis. Tissue slides and other factual data 
obtained by the autopsy physicians and/or pathologists shall be 
made available one to the other. All reports and information 

furnished by the autopsy physician and/or pathologist shall be 
distributed to all counsel. 

(b) Upon learning of the death of any plaintiff, plaintiffs counsel 
shall contact defense counsel promptly to enable defendants to 
elect whether or not to send a defense pathologist to observe the 

autopsy. 

2018 style order § 6.3 : 

Autopsy and Pathology Reports. 

(a) While Plaintiff is living. Each defendant who wishes to obtain 
plaintiffs autopsy after plaintiffs death shall serve that request 
in writing via email to plaintiffs counsel no later than 45 days 
after the plaintiffs deposition. Within ten calendar days from 
service of that written request, the parties shall confer regarding 



the request for an autopsy. Within five court days from that 
conference, but no later than fifteen calendar days from delivery 
of the written request, plaintiffs counsel shall respond in writing 
via email to state whether or not plaintiff agrees to an autopsy. 

Should plaintiff disagree to an autopsy and should defendant 
continue to want one, defendant shall no later than ten calendar 

days from the date of the conference file a motion to compel an 
autopsy pursuant to CR 35. See also RCW 68.50.102. The 
motion shall be before the assigned judge and shall be noted for 
hearing pursuant to LCR 7(b ). 

Should plaintiff decide to have an autopsy upon death, plaintiffs 
counsel shall notify defendants within five court days from the 
date plaintiff made that decision. Plaintiff shall pay half of the 
cost for that autopsy and defendants shall bear the other half of 
the cost. Any defendant may provide a defense pathologist at 
their cost to observe the autopsy and/or may request additional 

tissues be taken but shall not otherwise participate in the 
performance of the autopsy. The defense pathologist shall be 
provided with access to tissue samples, slides, and other matters 
reasonable necessary to make his/her own diagnosis and/or 
causation opinions. Tissue, tissue slides and blocks together with 
any other factual data obtained by the autopsy physicians and/or 

pathologists shall be made available to any party. All reports and 
information furnished by the autopsy physician and/or 
pathologist shall be distributed to all counsel. 

(b) Upon Plaintiffs death. Upon learning that plaintiff has 
passed, plaintiffs counsel shall within twelve hours notify 

defendants' counsel of that death in writing via email. Within one 
court day from receiving that notice, any defendant who wants 
an autopsy shall so notify plaintiffs counsel in writing via email. 
The parties shall confer if possible given the time-constraints. 

Should plaintiff disagree to an autopsy and should any defendant 
continue to want one, any such defendant shall as soon as 



practical upon notice of plaintiffs disagreement file a motion 
before the assigned judge, or the Chief Civil Judge if the assigned 
judge is unavailable, on shortened time to compel an autopsy 
pursuant to CR 35. See also RCW 68.50.102. Given the timing 

of any funeral arrangements and the preservation of human 

tissue, good cause exists for the hearing on that motion to compel 

to occur within three court days from the filing and service of the 
motion. Unless the parties agree to an earlier hearing and briefing 
schedule, the response to that motion shall be due by 4:30 pm the 
day following filing and service, and the strict reply, if any, shall 

be filed and served by 4:30 pm the day before the hearing. 

Plaintiff and/or his/her representative shall preserve the body so 
long as there is a pending request for an autopsy, or until all 
defendants' time for requesting an autopsy under this section has 
expired. 

(c) Service in writing via email as set forth in paragraphs 6.3 (a) 

and (b) shall be deemed complete consistent with CR 5(b )(7). 

CR 26(e)(2): 

A party is under a duty seasonably to amend a prior response if 

the party obtains information upon the basis of which: 

(A) the party knows that the response was incorrect when made, 
or 

(B) the party knows that the response though correct when made 

is no longer true and the circumstance are such that a failure to 
amend the response is in substance a knowing concealment. 



CR 26(g) : 

Signing of Discovery Requests, Responses, and Objections. 
Every request for discovery or response or objection thereto 

made by a party represented by an counsel shall be signed by at 
least one counsel of record in the counsel's individual name . . .  

. The signature of the counsel or party constitutes a certification 
that the counsel or the party has read the request, response, or 
objection, and that to the best of their knowledge, information, 
and belief formed after a reasonable inquiry it is : 

( 1) consistent with these rules and warranted by existing law or 
a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal 
of existing law; 

(2) not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or 
to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of 

litigation; and 

(3) not unreasonable or unduly burdensome or expensive, given 
the needs of the case, the discovery already had in the case, the 

amount in controversy, and the importance of the issues at stake 
in the litigation . . .  .If a certification is made in violation of the 

rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, shall 
impose upon the person who made the certification, the party on 
whose behalf the request, response, or objection is made, or both, 
an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay the 

amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the 
violation, including a reasonable counsel fee. 

If a certification is made in violation of the rule, the court, upon 
motion or upon its own initiative, shall impose upon the person 
who made the certification, the party on whose behalf the 
request, response, or objection is made, or both, an appropriate 
sanction, which may include an order to pay the amount of the 



reasonable expenses incurred because of the violation, including 
a reasonable attorney fee. 

CR 37 :  

(b) Failure To Comply With Order. 

(1) Sanctions by Court in County Where Deposition Is Taken. If 
a deponent fails to be sworn or to answer a question after being 

directed to do so by the court in the county in which the 
deposition is being taken, the failure may be considered a 
contempt of that court. 

(2) Sanctions by Court in Which Action Is Pending. If a party or 
an officer, director, or managing agent of a party or a person 
designated under rule 30(b )( 6) or 31 ( a) to testify on behalf of a 

party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, 
including an order made under section (a) of this rule or rule 35, 
or if a party fails to obey an order entered under rule 26( t), the 
court in which the action is pending may make such orders in 
regard to the failure as are just, and among others the following: 

(A) An order that the matters regarding which the order 
was made or any other designated facts shall be taken to be 
established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the 
claim of the party obtaining the order; 

(B) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party to 

support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting 
the disobedient party from introducing designated matters in 
evidence; 

(C) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or 
staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or 



dismissing the action or proceedings or any part thereof or 

rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party; 

(D) In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition 
thereto, an order treating as a contempt of court the failure to 
obey any orders except an order to submit to physical or mental 
examination; 

(E) Where a party has failed to comply with an order 
under rule 35(a) requiring the party to produce another for 
examination such orders as are listed in sections (A), (B), and (C) 
of this subsection, unless the party failing to comply shows that 
the party is unable to produce such person for examination. 

In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition thereto, the 
court shall require the party failing to obey the order or the 
attorney advising him or her or both to pay the reasonable 
expenses, including attorney fees, caused by the failure, unless 
the court finds that the failure was substantially justified or that 
other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust. 

(d) Failure of Party To Attend at Own Deposition or Serve 
Answers to Interrogatories or Respond to Request for Production 
or Inspection. If a party or an officer, director, or managing agent 
of a party or a person designated under rule 30(b)(6) or 3 l (a) to 
testify on behalf of a party fails; (1) to appear before the officer 
who is to take his or her deposition, after being served with a 
proper notice; or (2) to serve answers or objections to 
interrogatories submitted under rule 3 3, after proper service of 
the interrogatories; or (3) to serve a written response to a request 
for production of documents or inspection submitted under rule 
34, after proper service of the request, the court in which the 

action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to 



the failure as are just, and among others it may take any action 
authorized under sections (AJ, (BJ, and (CJ of subsection (bJ (2J 
of this rule. In lieu of any order or in addition thereto, the court 
shall require the party failing to act or the attorney advising the 

party or both to pay the reasonable expenses, including attorney 

fees, caused by the failure, unless the court finds that the failure 

was substantially justified or that other circumstances make an 
award of expenses unjust. 

The failure to act described in this subsection may not be excused 

on the ground that the discovery sought is objectionable unless 
the party failing to act has applied for a protective order as 
provided by rule 26( c ). For purposes of this section, an evasive 
or misleading answer is to be treated as a failure to answer. 

( emphasis added). 

RCW 7.21.010 : 

The definitions in this section apply throughout this chapter : 

(1) "Contempt of court" means intentional : 

(a) Disorderly, contemptuous, or insolent behavior toward the 
judge while holding the court, tending to impair its authority, or 
to interrupt the due course of a trial or other judicial proceedings; 

(b) Disobedience of any lawful judgment, decree, order, or 
process of the court; 

( c) Refusal as a witness to appear, be sworn, or, without lawful 

authority, to answer a question; or 

( d) Refusal, without lawful authority, to produce a record, 
document, or other object. 

(2) "Punitive sanction" means a sanction imposed to punish a 
past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority 
of the court. 



(3) "Remedial sanction" means a sanction imposed for the 
purpose of coercing performance when the contempt consists of 
the omission or refusal to perform an act that is yet in the person's 
power to perform. 



IL CASE SCHEDULE 

"'I/ CASE EVENTS DATE 
Case Flied and Schedule Issued. 4/10/2018 
DFADLINE for Plaintiff to serve Answers to Defendants First Style Inte1rogatories to Plaintiff. 6/8/2018  
DFADLINE for  Plaintiff to deliver copies of  all medical records employment records, etc. 6/8/2018 
DFADLINE for Plaintiff Disclosure Requirements (including whether case is under RCW 7.72 or 4/15/2019 
under ore-Tort Reform Law). [See Revised Order Para. 9.1,9.2,9.31 
DFADLINE for Defendant Disclosure Requirements. {See revised Order Para. 9. 1, 9.2 9.3 l. 5/13/2019 
DEADLINE for all parties to disclose possible additional trial witnesses. [See Revised Order 6/10/2019 
Para. 9.4}. 
DEADLINE for Jury Demand {See KCLCR 38(h)(2) l. 6/17/2019 
DEADLINE for a Chanize in Trial Date. [See KCLCR 40(e) (2)J. 6/17/2019 
DE.,U)LINE for all parties to have completed discovcJY. 8/5/2019 
DEADLINE for En2a2inp_ in Alternative Dispute Resolution r See KCLCR 16(b) 1. 8/26/2019 
DEADLINE to hear Oral ArJJ;ument fur all dis positive motions .  {See CR 56, KCLCR 567 8/30/2019 
DEADLINE for Exchange Witness & Exhibit Lists & Documentaiy Exhibits, and des ignations of 9/3/2019 
testimony by deposition. [See KCLCR 4 (j) Revised Order Para. 9.4] 

"\/ DEADLINE to file Joint Confirmation of Trial Readiness. [See KCLCR 16(a)(2)] 9/3/2019 

-.,1 DFADLINE for parties to serve and file: all remaining pretrial motions ; list of deposition 9/9/2019 
counter-designations; listofaU objections to original deposition designations. 
DEADLINE for parties to serve and file: trial memorandum; meITKJranda in opposition to all 9/16/2019 
reimining pretrial motions ; proposedjury questionaire; proposed jury mstructions; proposed 
verdict fol1ll(_s); list of all redirect designations of depositions; listofobjections to counter-
designations.  
DFADLINE for Joint Statement ofEvidence . .  fSee KCLCR (4) (k) l 9/16/2019 

,, DEADLINE for parties to serve and.file all reply memoranda on remaining motions.  9/19/2019 
DEADLINE to hear oral arguments on: all remaining motions; all objections regarding 9/20/2019 
deposition designations and counter-designations; and all other pretrial matters . 
Trial Date [See KCLCR 40]. 9/23/2019 

The, indicates a doournent that must b1:dilcd with the Su · or Court Cleik's Office b tht: date shown. pen 'Y 

DL ORDER 

Pursuant to King County Local Rule 4 {KCLCR 4). l is ORDERED that all parties involved in this action shall comply 
with the schedule listed above and that failure to meet these event dates will result in the dismissal of the appeal. It is 
FURTHFR ORDERFD that the party fiiing this action n!lW seive this Order Setting Asbestos Case Schedule and 
attachment on all other parties. 

DA TED: 4/10/201 8  
PRESIDING JUDGE 



1 

2 

s 

4 

5 

6 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON 
IN AND FOR KING COUNTY 

7 MARJORIE CARROLL, Individually and as 
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Personal Representative of  the Estate of 
LA WREN CE W. CARROLL, Deceased, 

Plaintiff; 

V. 

AKEBONO BRAKE CORPORATION; 
et al, 

Defendants. 

NO. 1 8-2-09323-6 SEA 

ORDER GRANTING NISSAN MOTOR 
CO., LID. 'S AND NISSAN NOR1H 
AMERICA, INC.'S MOTION TO 
STRIKE COMPLAINT 

This matter having come before the undersigned Judge of the above-entitled Comt, upon 

Defendants Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 's and Nissan North America, Inc.'s Motion to Strike 

P1aintiffs Complaint and Award Sanctions, and Joinders thereto, and the Comt having read and 

considered the files and records herein, including the following: 

1 .  Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 's  and Nissan North America, Inc. 's Motion to Strike 

Plaintiffs Complaint and Award Sanctions Due to Plaintiffs and Her Counsel's 

Contumacious Behavior and Withholding of Material Evidence Which Substantially 

Prejudiced Defendants' Ability to Prepare for Trial; 

2. Declaration ofVirginia Leeper and the exhibits thereto; 

1 - ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE 

COMPLAINT 

Judge Kristin Richardson 
Department 52 
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3. Declaration ofJohn Lenker and the exlnbits thereto; 

4. Declaration ofMary Clipsham and the exhibits thereto; 

5 .  Defendant Akebono Brake Corporation's Joinder; 

6. Defendant O]ympic Brake Supply's Joinder; 

7. Plaintiff's Response; 

8. Declaration ofTom Owens; 

9. Declaration of George Kim; 

1 0. Declaration of Erik Karst; 

1 1 .  Defendants Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 's and NissanNorth .Arrerica, Inc. 's Reply to 

Plaintiff's Response; 

12 .  Declaration of Virginia Leeper; 

1 3 .  Praecipe with full deposition transcripts ofMarjorie Carroll, Douglas Carroll and Dr. 

Jacqueline Moline; 

1 4. Defendant Hone)Well InternationaL Inc. ' s Motion fur Relief from Discovery 

Violations; 

1 5 . Plaintiff's Response to defendant Hone)Well InternationaL Inc.' s Motion for Relief 

from Discovery Violations; 

16.  Defendant Hone)Well's Reply on its Motion fur Relief from Discovery Violations; 

and having heard and considered oral argument of the parties; 

THE COURT makes the fullowmg 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

2 - ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE 
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1 .  The Cotrrt has jurisdiction to hear this motion and decide the issues presented. 

2. Lawrence Carroll, husband of Pla:intifl; was diagnosed with mesothelioma in 201 5 .  

He retained attorney Erik Karst in December 201 5  to represent him on his claims 

relating to his mesothelioma. 

3 .  Lawrence Carroll died on April 1 8, 2016. 

4. Lawrence Carroll was cremated on April 28, 2016 .  

5 .  On the day ofLawrence Carroll's death, his wife, Plainti:ffMarjorie Carroll 

(''Plaintiff), arranged with Karst for a private, partial autopsy through Regional 

Pathology and Autopsy Services, Inc. (RP AS). The autopsy was of only Mr. 

Carroll' s chest and abdomen and noted for the pm-pose of"disease litigation." 

6 .  RP AS retained 35 slides of the partial autopsy but, six months later, pursuant to its 

policy gave all remaining llllClaimed tissue and fluid to medical research. 

7. This lawsuit was filed October 9, 201 8 .  As of the date of this hearing (October 1 6, 

2020), Plaintiff still has not produced the autopsy report to defendants despite 

discovery requests, supplemental requests, and the depositions of experts who 

testified llllder the false impression that no autopsy had been performed. 

8 .  PJamtiff' s colillSe� Karst, paid for the partial autopsy. His assistant used Karst' s 

credit card to make the payment. Plaintiff claims the autopsy report, when completed, 

was e-mailed to Karst and inadvertently routed to his junk mail folder. There it sat for 

four years, they say, lllltil he became aware of its existence about a month ago when 

3 - ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE 
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Defendants attached it to this motion Defendants badJocated the autopsy_report on_ 

their own in 2019. 

9. There is no proof or even a copy in the record of any junk or spam e-mail folder or 

the autopsy report sitting in that folder, unacknowledged and supposedly forgotten 

Given that Karst knew of and paid for the autopsy, and that this litigation became 

active two years later, the claim of forgetfulness as justification for not giving opposing 

counsel notice of the autopsy and its report is not credible. 

1 0. At oral argument on this motion, by way of explanation as to why they bad not turned 

over the report, Plaintiff's counsel George Kirn stated they did not learn of it until 

September 2020 when it was an exhibit to Defendants' motion, so ''we knew they 

already bad it . . . .  .It didn't seem like it mattered since they akeady bad it." The 

Plaintiff's claim that they did not know they bad the autopsy report until a few weeks 

ago is not credible. 

1 1 .  Prior to filing the instant Complaint on April 1 0, 201 8, Plaintiff Marjorie Carroll filed 

claims with Bankruptcy Court Trusts. She claimed Lawrence Carroll's mesothelioma 

was caused by his e:xposme to asbestos as a child, from his father's shipyard work 

clothes, while hugging and playing with his father and helping his mother launder his 

father's work clothes. Plaintiff signed releases and received settlement money on fom 

of the Bankruptcy Court Trust claims. 
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12 .  The statements in those claims conflict with the allegation in the instant Complaint that 

Lawrence Carroll's mesothelioma resuhed :from occupational exposures while 

working as a Parts Manager at Datsun and Nissan autormbile dealerships. 

1 3 .  Plaintiff served Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. with the Complaint on October 9, 201 8 .  The 

Bankruptcy Court Trust claims were not revealed to Defendants mrt:i1 July 12, 2019. 

It was not disclosed in Plaintiffs response to style interrogatory 13 ,  which requested 

infonnation about any sources of Plaintiffs exposure to asbestos. 

14. The April 10, 2018 Order Setting Asbestos Civil Case Schedule set discovery cut­

off on August 5, 2019 and the trial date on September 23, 2019. The June 7, 2019 

Amended Order set discovery cut-off on December 3 1 ,  2019  and continued the trial 

to February 1 8, 2020. The November 2 1 ,  201 9  Amended Order set discovery cut­

off on April 20, 2020 and continued the trial to June 8, 2020. The April 9, 2020 

Amended Order due to COVID- 19  set the discovery cut-off on September 2 1 ,  

2020 and continued the trial to November 9, 2020. 

1 5 .  Defense style interrogatories 13 ,  1 6, 20, 2 1 ,  and 22 could not be clearer. They 

required disclosure of(l) any exposures to asbestos outside of employment, 

including exposures descnbed in the Bankruptcy Court Trust claim forms; (2) the 

autopsy pathologist who made a diagnosis; (3) any autopsy, autopsy report, and 

residual tissue; and (4) a Death Certificate that did not contain false information that 

there was 'no autopsy." All of the false responses were signed offby the Plain� 
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Marjorie Carroll. ''N / A" (not applicable) was one of the .answers_ when specifically 

asked about an autopsy. 

1 6. At Doug Carroll' s deposition, he indicated confusion about whether there was an 

autopsy, and Marjorie Carroll initially testified there was an autopsy, then that there 

was not an autopsy. Plaintiffs counseL George Kirn, did not correct Marjorie Carroll 

and Plaintiff's counseL Erik Karst, did not correct Doug Carroll. These statements 

have never been corrected or clarified. It is not credible that the deceased's son or 

the widow who arranged for the autopsy with Karst would not know that an autopsy 

had been performed on their rather and husband. 

1 7. Plaintiff never responded to the Nissan Entities' colll1Sel's December 2 1 ,  201 8, letter 

requesting preservation of all tissue. 

1 8 . Plaintiff knew at the time of the autopsy that it was being conducted for purposes of 

litigation Had tissue samples been preserved, the lung tissue could have been tested 

for certain types of asbestos fibers. 

19. Plaintiffs counsel stated in their declarations that their conduct was inadvertent, that 

the autopsy report sat in Karst' s spam folder for four years and he forgot there had 

been an autopsy. 1 Plaintiff offers no proo� other than Karst' s self-serving statement, 

that the report was e-mailed, that a spam folder existed, that the folder was never 

viewed or emptied in four years, that it had the autopsy report in it, or that counsel 

1 The court assumes Karst paid his credit card bill on which the autopsy was charged. 
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did not learn of the report's existence tmtil the month before this motion Not even a 

copy of the e-mail or a photo of the spam folder was presented. 

20. Neither Plaintiff Marjorie Carroll nor her counsel have corrected her untruthful 

responses to court-ordered discovery. 

2 1 .  Regional Pathology and Autopsy Services, Inc., dissolved on April 1 5, 2019. It is not 

known what its potential witnesses would remember about this one of probably 

thousands of autopsies theyperfonned. It is not known if there were pathologist 

notes attached to the autopsy report. Because it has not been disclosed, the court 

and the Defendants are unaware of exactly what is in Plaintiffs possession 

22. Had Plaintiff truthfully and timely informed Defendants in her responses to style 

interrogatories that there had been an autopsy, the company that did the autopsy 

would have still been in existence. It is now out of existence. 

23 . There is no requirement that there be an autopsy or that samples be retained, but it is 

certainly within the spirit of the discovery rules that when an autopsy occurs, 

opposing counsel is told (if there is opposing counsel at the time, which in this case 

there was not) and samples are retained. That is simply fair play. There is a 

requirement that counsel be honest and truthful regarding discovery. Plaintiff should 

have disclosed the fact of an autopsy and given opposing counsel information 

regarding the report, pathologist, tissue, and death certificate, but did not. 

24. Defendants' interrogatory 1 3  was not limited to claimed exposures in this case; it 

asked about all exposures to asbestos. In a declaration, attorney Karst stated he did 
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not include the Bankruptcy Trusts statements ( about father's clothing causing the 

asbestos exposure) in Plaintiffs response to the interrogatory because he did not 

think the question related to each and every exposure to asbestos. As well, an 

unexplained "calendaring error" was blamed for not turning over this infonnation The 

court does not find either purported reason to be credible. 

25. In response to the interrogatory, Plaintiff should have disclosed the statements made 

in the Bankruptcy Court Trust claim forms - materially inconsistent with the 

allegations of the instant Complaint - but did not. 

26. Plaintiff disclosed witnesses six weeks to six months after deadlines set in Orders 

Setting Civil Asbestos Case Schedules. The trial date was continued twice in part due 

to Plaintiffs discovery delays. 

27. Plaintiff took a year to produce Lawrence Carroll's social security records in 

discovery. Plaintiff was required under the Revised Consolidated Pretrial Style 

Order to produce a current authorization to obtain social security records 90 days 

after the lawsuit was filed. 

28. The three attorneys representing Plaintiff are located in three diflerent states. 

Mistakes do occur and delays do :frequently happen with discovery. However, there 

is a duty to be honest and accurate when providing discovery. 

29. The Plaintiff's experts in this case were hired to give opinions, not knowing there was 

an autopsy. They based their opinions on the interrogatories and the death certificate, 

which :falsely stated there had been no autopsy. Their opinions were based on false 
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evidence. Defendants' experts a1so did not know there_ had been an autopsy. 

Plaintiffs colIDSel did nothing to correct this misimpression before, during, or after the 

experts' depositions. 

30. Because the company that did the autopsy is no longer in existence, the witnesses 

and the rnateria1s are gone. There was a request by Defendants to Plaintiff with 

regard to preserving all tissue of decedent Lawrence Carroll. By then it was too late, 

and the Plaintiff never responded. There was a denial of the chance to test the tissue. 

3 1 .  The discovery violations here were repeated and continuing and part of 

gamesmanship by Plaintiff and her counsel Plaintiff and her collllSel were dishonest in 

interrogatory responses or withheld information, some of which still has not been 

provided to Defendants, in violation of discovery orders by the comt. It was willful 

because it is a violation of a comt order. 

32. In its oral ruling, the comt found that the conduct was not "dehberate" because the 

comt was "on the fence about that." However, upon further reflection and having re-

reviewed declarations, the lack of proo� transcripts, and arguments of collllSei the 

comt has reconsidered that finding. It is no longer on the fence on this issue and 

believes the behavior of Plaintiff in withholding discovery was deliberate. There is no 

other explanation, particularly given the unbelievable justifications offered by 

Plaintiffs colIDSel 

33 .  PlaintifPs lllltnrthful discovery responses concealing the autopsy of Lawrence Carroll, 

which Plaintiffhas not corrected; Plainti:ff s delay for a year in providing materially 
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inconsistent statements regarding Lawrence Carroll's .exposure to_ asbestos from a 

source other than Defendants; Marjorie Carroll's and Doug Carroll's evasive 

responses at depositions regarding an autopsy; and PJaintiff s de Jays in responding to 

discovery, disclosing witnesses, and providing witnesses for depositions substantially 

prejudiced Defendants' ability to prepare for trial 

34. Trial in this case is set for November 9, 2020 - 24 days from today's date. 

Defendants cannot be ready for trial by that date given the PJaintiff s Jate discovery. 

PJaintifrs dishonesty adversely affected the Defendants' discovery efforts. Defense 

counsel allowing expert depositions to proceed, knowing the experts were not in 

possession of basic but crucial facts, is egregious behavior. Withholding an autopsy 

report or information about the potential source ofPJainti:ff s mesothelioma, both of 

which presumably could affect the outcome of the case, was egregious behavior. 

3 5 .  A fu:ir trial cannot be secured llllder these c:ircumstances. There has been substantial 

prejudice to the Defendants. 

36. The court has explicitly considered lesser sanctions than dismissal and striking the 

CompJaint. A continuance would allow the experts who previously testified, believing 

that no autopsy had ever been done, to issue new findings and be deposed a second 

time. That would be expensive and lengthy. Scheduling depositions during the time of 

COVID is a challenge and causes deJays, and the experts likely would issue new 

reports that addresses the new fact that a partial autopsy was performed. A 

continuance will deJaythe trial at least another year, in this court's opinion, by the 
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time multiple experts write their reports and are re-deposed. There are mnnerous 

attorneys involved whose scheduling is un1ikely to be in sync, causing further delay. 

There may be additional experts regarding the autopsy finding; themselves who need 

to write reports and be deposed. There also likely would be additional investigation 

and questioning of the Plaintiff and her son fur their role in this subterfuge. The case 

has a1ready been continued twice. Another continuance is not an appropriate 

sanction. 

3 7. Striking the autopsy report is an ahernative sanction, but depending on what it 

contains may end up benefitting the Plain� whose conduct caused this problem 

Striking the autopsy will not cure the prejudice that has occurred when the experts 

were consulted or deposed not knowing about the autopsy. It does not albw 

Defendants to examine and test the tissue that Plainti:fffuiled to preserve. At this 

point, it is not even known rrthere are pathologist or toxicology notes attached to the 

autopsy report, which could warrant a search fur the witnesses. Re-deposition of the 

experts, as noted, likely would cause a long and costly continuance. Striking the 

autopsy report is not an appropriate sanction. 

38 .  Monetary sanctions are insufficient to pmrish the Plamti:ffs conduct. 

39. The colll.1: has given serious thought to the available options and does not make its 

ultimate decision lightly. 
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40. The comt makes no finding with regard to potentialethicalviolations or official 

misconduct, as defined by the Washington State Bar Association, by any attorney in 

this case. 

4 1 .  The comt hereby incorporates its oral ruling on October 1 6, 2020, into these findings 

and conclusions. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1 .  Plaintiff's omission regarding Lawrence Carroll's childhood exposure to asbestos in 

response to court mandated discovery was a failure to fully respond, was willful and 

dehberate and violated CR 33 and CR 37.  

2. Plaintiff's serving responses to comt mandated discovery she and her cmmsel knew 

contained untruthful information regarding the performance of an autopsy was a 

failure to fully respond, was willful and dehberate, and violated CR 3 3 and CR 3 7. 

3 .  Plaintiff's failure to produce the autopsy report in response to court mandated 

discovery was a failure to fully respond, was willful and deliberate and violated CR 

33, 34 and CR 37. 

4. Plaintiff's production of a death certificate that she and her counsel knew contained 

:m.Jse information regarding the autopsy was willful and dehberate and violated CR 34 

and CR 37.  

5 .  Plaintiff's and her son Doug Carroll's evasive responses to questions at their 

depositions regarding whether an autopsy had been performed, and failure to correct 

or clarify those evasive responses, which Plaintiff's counsel knew were evasive, 

12 - ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE 

COMPIAINT 

Judge Kristin Richardson 
Department 52 



1 

2 

s 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

1 1  

12  

IS  

14 

15  

16  

17  

1 8  

1 9  

20 

2 1  

22 

2S 

24 

25 

26 

violated CR 30, CR 37, and CR 26(e)(2)(A), which requires that counseLcorrect or 

amend incorrect discovery responses. Faih.n-e to do so is in substance a knowing 

concealment. 

6. Plaintiffs delays in responding to discovery, disclosing witnesses, and making :fact 

and expert witnesses available for depositions, llllilecessarily increased the cost of 

litigation and violated CR 26 and CR 3 7 .  

7. Plaintiffs and her counsel's intentional actions in disobedience of the lawful Second 

Revised Consolidated Pretrial Style Order and lawful Order Setting Civil Asbestos 

Case Schedule were in violation ofRCW 7.21010(1 )(b). 

8 .  Plaintiffs and her counsel's actions in this case have not complied with the standard 

of discovery set out by the Washington State Supreme Court in Wash. State 

Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp. , 1 22 Wn2d 299, 858 P.2d 1 054 

(1 993) in that they have not complied with the letter, spirit, or pmpose of discovery 

rules. See also CR 26(g). 

9. As set out in Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 1 3 1  Wn2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 

(1 997) and Magana v .  Hyundai Motor America et al. , 1 67 Wn2d 570, 220 P .3d 

19 1  (2009), the requirements that must be met to impose the harshest sanction of 

striking a pleading for discovery violations are (1)  that there be willful or deliberate 

violation of a discovery order; (2) that there be substantial prejudice to the ability of 

the adverse party in their preparation for tria� and (3) that the Court explicitly 

considers lesser sanctions. All requirements have been met. 
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10. Defendants Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. ,  Nissan North America, Inc., Akebono Brake 

Corporation, 0 lympic Brake Supply, and Honeywell International Inc. have been 

severely prejudiced in their ability to prepare for trial by Plaintiff and her counsels' 

violations of court orders, court rules, statutes, and case law, and the imposition of a 

severe sanction is necessary pursuant to CR 3 7 (b )(2 ). 

ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADruDGED AND DECREED that Defendants' 

Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 's  and Nissan North America, lnc. 's  Motion to Strike Plaintiffs 

Complaint and Award Sanctions Due to Plaintiff's and Her Counsel's Contumacious 

Behavior and Withholding of Material Evidence Which Substantially Prejudiced 

Defendants' Ability to Prepare for Trial, and defense joinders thereto, is hereby 

GRANTED. Plaintiffs Complaint is STRICKEN in its entirety and all claims alleged 

against all Defendants are DISMISSED with prejudice; and 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADruDGED AND DECREED that 

Plaintn( and each ofher counsel and their employees are ordered to and shall have a 

continuing duty to preserve all connnunications and evidence relating to this lawsuit and 

are enjoined from disposing of or destroying same; and 

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADruDGED AND DECREED that 

pursuant to CR 54(d)(2), Defendants' reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred will 

be determined at a separate hearing. 
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DATED TIIlS 19th day ofJanuary, 202 1 .  

JUDGE KRISTIN RICHARDSON 
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THE HONORABLE KRISTIN RICHARDSON 
Presentation Date: April 23, 2021 

KING 
FILED COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

APR 2 3 202 1 

SEA 
SUPERIOR COURT CLERK 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON 

IN AND FOR KING COUNTY 

10 MARJORIE CARROLL, Individually and 
as Personal Representative of the Estate of 

11  LAWRENCE W. CARROLL, Deceased, 

12 

13 V.  

Plaintiff, 

14 AKEBONO BRAKE CORPORATION; 
et al . ,  

Defendants. 

NO. 1 8-2-09323-6 SEA 

JUDGEMENT FOR DEFENDANTS 
NISSAN MOTOR CO., LTD AND 
NISSAN NORTH AMERICA, INC. 
AGAINST THOMAS OWENS 

15 

16 

17 

18 

JUDGMENT SUMMARY 

The following is recited to be in compliance with RCW 4.64.030: 

1 .  Judgment Creditors: Nissan Motor Co. , Ltd and Nissan North America, 
19 Inc. 

20  2. Judgment Debtors: Thomas J. Owens 

21  3 .  Attorneys for Judgment Creditor: Jose Gaitan and Virginia Leeper 

22 4.  Attorneys for Judgment Debtors: Jeffrey Downer and James Chong 

23 5.  Principal Judgment: $0 

24 6. Taxable Costs and Statutory 
Attorney Fees: $ 1 ,000.00 

25 

1 - JUDGEMENT FOR DEFENDANTS 
NISSA MOTOR CO. LTD AND 
NISSAN NORTH AMERICA, INC. 
AGAINST THOMAS OWENS 
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L A W  O F F I C E S  O F  

T H E  GAITAN G ROUP 

A PROF ESSIONAL LIM ITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

411 UNIVERSITY STREET, SUITE 1200 
SEATTLE, WASHINGTON 98101 

(206) 346-6000 



7 .  Pre-Judgment Interest: NIA 
2 

8.  Post-Judgment Interest on Taxable 
Costs and Attorney Fees: 12% per annum 

4 THIS MATTER having come before the court, upon Defendants Nissan Motor Co., 

5 Ltd. 's and Nissan North America, Inc.'s Motion for Imposition of Reasonable Attorney Fees 

6 and Costs Against Plaintiff and her Counsel, and the court having read and considered the files 

7 and records herein, and specifically: Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. 's and Nissan North America, 

8 Inc. 's Motion for the Imposition of Reasonable Attorney Fees and Costs Against Plaintiff and 

9 her Counsel and the Court' s  orders on that Motion dated April 1 ,  2021 , consistent therewith, 

10 the court enters judgment as follows: 

11 I .  Defendants Nissan Motor Co. Ltd and Nissan North America, Inc. are awarded 

12 its costs against Thomas Owens in the amount of $1 ,000.00, pursuant to RCW 4.84.0 10  and 

13 4.84.090. 

14 2. Costs and statutory attorney fees awarded to defendants shall bear interest at the 

15 rate of 12% per annum. 

16 DATED this __2Q__ day of April, 202 1 .  

17 

18 

19 

20 Presented by: 

21  THE GAITAN GROUP, PLLC 

22 

By s/Jose Gaitan 
23 Jose E.  Gaitan, WSBA No. 7347 

Virginia Leeper, WSBA No. 1 0576 
24 Attorneys for Defendants Nissan Motor Co. ,  Ltd. 

and Nissan North America, Inc. 
25 002576 1 3  
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F I LED 
8/1 /2022 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

I N  TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WASH I NGTON 

MARJORI E CARROLL,  ind ivid ua l ly and 
as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of LAWRENCE W. CARROLL,  
Deceased , 

Appe l lant/Cross-Respondent ,  

V .  

AKEBONO BRAKE CORPORATIO N ;  
AKEBONO BRAKE I N DUSTRY, LTD . ;  
HON EYWELL I NTERNATIONAL, I N C . ,  
i nd ivid ua l ly and as successor- in- i nterest 
to Bend ix Corporation ;  N ISSAN 
MOTOR COMPANY LTD . ;  N ISSAN 
NORTH AM ER ICA, I NC . ; OLYM P IC  
BRAKE SUPPLY, 

Respondents/Cross-Appel lants , 

BORGWARNER MORSE TEC,  LLC ; 
CL IFFORD PERFORMANCE ;  
COOPER I N DUSTRIES ,  LLC , 
i nd ivid ua l ly and as successor- in- i nterest 
to McGraw Ed ison Company; DANA 
COMPAN I ES ,  LLC , f/k/a/ DANA 
CORPORATIO N ;  EXEDY 
CORPORATION OF JAPAN , 
i nd ivid ua l ly and as successor- in- i nterest 
to Daik in C l utch Corporation ;  EXEDY 
GLOBALPARTS CORPORATIO N ,  as a 
whol ly-owned subsid iary of the EXEDY 
CORPORATION OF JAPAN , and as 
successor- in- i nterest to Daik in C l utch 
Cor oration ;  GEN U I N E  PARTS 

D IVIS ION ONE  
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COMPANY; H E N N ESSY I N DUSTR IES ,  
I NC . ; JACK CL I FFORD 
PERFORMANCE PRODUCTS I NC . ; 
LuK CLUTCH SYSTEMS LLC ; 
M ETROPOLITAN L IFE  I NSURANCE 
COMPANY; S IX ROBBLEES' I N C . ;  and 
U N ION CARB I D E  CORPORATIO N ,  

Defendants . 

DWYER, J .  - Marjorie Carro l l  appeals from the tria l  cou rt's order g ranti ng 

the motion fi led by N issan Motor Company Ltd . and N issan North America , I nc .  

(co l lective ly N issan) to stri ke Carro l l ' s  compla int .  In its mot ion to strike the 

comp la int ,  N issan asserted that Carro l l  and her counsel engaged i n  numerous  

wi l lfu l and  de l iberate d iscovery v io lat ions that substantia l ly prejud iced N issan 's 

ab i l ity to prepare for tria l . On appea l ,  Carro l l  contends that the tr ial cou rt abused 

its d iscret ion by stri k ing the compla int because none of the a l leged vio lat ions met 

a l l  of the standards requ i red for a tria l  cou rt to impose extreme sanctions under 

CR 37(b) . Add it iona l ly ,  Carro l l  asserts that the tria l  cou rt fa i led to cons ider as a 

lesser sanct ion an adverse i nference j u ry instruct ion that wou ld have cu red any 

prejud ice resu lti ng from the a l leged d iscovery vio lations .  We ag ree with Carro l l  

i n  both of  these respects . Accord i ng ly ,  we reverse the order strik ing Carro l l ' s  

comp la int and remand the cause for fu rther proceed ings .  

On cross appea l ,  N issan asserts that the tria l  cou rt erred by l im iti ng a 

monetary sanct ion that was imposed on one of Carro l l ' s  attorneys , Thomas 

Owens ,  to $ 1 , 000 .  Because the tr ial cou rt d id not err i n  th is respect, we affi rm 

the tria l  cou rt's order sanction ing Owens .  

2 
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On October 1 9 , 20 1 5 ,  a phys ic ian d iagnosed Marjorie Carro l l ' s  h usband , 

Lawrence Carro l l ,  as be i ng affl icted by mesothe l ioma.  Lawrence 1 d ied on Apri l 

1 8 , 20 1 6 . He was 82 years o ld . 

On the day of Lawrence's death , Carro l l  s ig ned a form authoriz ing 

Reg iona l  Patho logy and Autopsy Services , I nc .  (RPAS) to conduct an autopsy of 

Lawrence .  The authorization form provided that the reason for the autopsy was 

"D isease Lit igation . "  The autopsy was paid for with a cred it card belong ing to 

one of Carro l l ' s  attorneys , Er ik Karst. Karst is l i censed to practice law in Texas 

and M innesota . 

The autopsy authorizat ion form provided : 

I u nderstand and ag ree that after a period of six months 
immed iate ly fo l lowi ng the transm itta l of the autopsy fi na l  report ,  any 
rema in i ng t issue samples , fl u ids ,  and/or devices , wi l l ,  without 
fu rther notice ,  be made ava i lab le to med ical  researchers instead of 
be ing destroyed . I u nderstand that if reta i ned , toxicology 
specimens and/or samples for DNA/molecu lar stud ies sha l l  be 
stored for six months and then sha l l  be destroyed without fu rther 
notice . I u nderstand that g lass s l ides and h isto logy b locks sha l l  be 
reta i ned indefi n itely . 

On Apri l 2 1 , 20 1 6 , th ree days after Lawrence's death , the autopsy was 

performed . A report of the autopsy, wh ich was dated June 25 ,  20 1 6 , stated that 

Lawrence's cause of death was "MAL IGNANT PLEURAL M ESOTH EL IOMA 

WITH M ETASTAS IS . "  The report d id not specify the exact type or types of 

asbestos fibers that were present i n  Lawrence's body. Subsequently, Dana 

1 For  clarity, we refer to  Mr. Carro l l  by  h is fi rst name .  G iven her ro le as p la intiff, we refer 
to Marjor ie Carro l l  as Carro l l .  No  d isrespect is i n tended . 

3 
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Carro l l ,  Carro l l ' s  daughter ,  sent the autopsy report to Karst via an e-mai l  

message dated Ju ly 1 9 , 20 1 6 . 

The autopsy report stated that var ious forms of t issue samples were 

reta i ned by RPAS fo l lowing the autopsy. The tr ial cou rt later found that "RPAS 

reta i ned 35 s l ides of the part ia l  autopsy but , six months later, pu rsuant to its 

po l icy gave all rema in ing uncla imed tissue and fl u id to med ical  research . "2 

F ind i ng of Fact 6 (emphasis added) .  

The  tria l  cou rt found that N issan "had located the  autopsy report on the i r  

own i n  20 1 9 . "3 F ind i ng of  Fact 8 .  A declaration of  one of  N issan 's attorneys , 

Vi rg i n ia Leeper, asserted that RPAS "ceased operations on Apri l  1 5 , 20 1 9 . "  

Leeper stated that she  "was able to locate and  obta in  from I l l ume Patho logy . . .  

documents and 35 s l ides . "4 Leeper add it iona l ly stated that " [t] here were no 

autopsy photog raphs ,  no t issue b locks , no wet l ung t issue nor other organs with 

2 There is no ind icat ion i n  the record that any remain i ng  t issue samp les were actua l ly  
donated to med ical research . The tria l  cou rt's fi nd ing  that a l l  rema in ing  t issue samples were 
donated to med ical research appears to be based on the RPAS's retent ion pol icy, wh ich states 
that "after a period of six months immed iately fo l lowi ng the transm itta l of the autopsy fi na l  report, 
any rema in ing  t issue samples . . .  wi l l  . . .  be made available to medical researchers . "  (Emphasis 
added . )  However, i n  a declaration i n  support of i ts motion to stri ke the comp la i nt ,  N issan 's 
attorney stated that " I  have not been ab le to determ ine if P la i nt iff's counsel or anyone else has 
possession of autopsy specimens or t issue samples ,  or if they have a l l  been destroyed . "  
Add it ional ly ,  i n  its motion to  stri ke the comp la int ,  the on ly citat ions that N issan provided i n  support 
of its c la im that a l l  rema in ing  tissue samples were donated to med ical research were to the 
autopsy authorizat ion form , wh ich , as expla i ned , stated on ly that the rema in ing  t issue samples 
wou ld  be made avai lab le to med ical researchers .  In any event, ne ither party ass igns error to the 
tria l  cou rt's fi nd i ng  that RPAS "gave al l  rema in ing  unc la imed t issue and fl u id to medical research . "  
F i nd ing  o f  Fact 6 .  Thus ,  th is fi nd ing  is a verity on appea l .  See P ierce v. B i l l  & Me l inda Gates 
Found . ,  1 5  Wn . App. 2d 4 1 9 ,  429 ,  475 P . 3d 1 0 1 1  (2020) ('" I t  is we l l -estab l ished law that an 
unchal lenged fi nd ing  of fact wi l l  be accepted as a verity u pon appea l . "' (q uoti ng State v. H i l l ,  1 23 
Wn .2d 64 1 , 644 , 870 P .2d 3 1 3 ( 1 994)) ) ,  review den ied , 1 97 Wn.2d 1 006 (202 1 ) .  

3 N issan asserts that the tria l  cou rt m istaken ly found that the autopsy report was obta ined 
i n  20 1 9 .  However, N issan d id not ass ign error to th is factual fi nd ing  i n  its brief. See RAP 1 0 . 3 .  
Thus ,  i t  i s  a verity on appea l .  See P ierce , 1 5  Wn . App. 2 d  a t  429 .  

4 There is no ind icat ion i n  t he  record as  to  what materia l  was conta i ned with i n  these 
s l ides or what in formation was conta i ned with i n  the documents obta i ned by Leeper. 
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the materials" that she obta ined . Accord ing to Leeper, she was "not . . .  ab le to 

determ ine if P la i ntiff's counsel or anyone e lse has possess ion of autopsy 

specimens or tissue samples ,  or  if they have a l l  been destroyed . "  On appea l ,  the 

parties ag ree that these tissue samp les were l i kely destroyed . 5 However, there is 

no ind icat ion i n  the record as to when ,  exactly, any uncla imed t issue samp les or 

reta i ned h isto logy b locks were destroyed by RPAS , I l l ume Patho logy, or  some 

un identified th i rd party . 

On Apri l 28 ,  20 1 6 , Lawrence's body was cremated . That same day, 

Lawrence's death certificate was issued . The death certificate erroneously 

stated that no autopsy had been performed . 

Between October 20 1 7 and March 20 1 8 , Karst , on behalf of Carro l l ,  fi led 

c la ims aga inst five bankruptcy court trusts . The tria l  cou rt here in  found that, i n  

those bankruptcy trust proceed ings ,  Carro l l  "c la imed Lawrence Carro l l ' s  

mesothe l ioma was caused by h is exposu re to asbestos as a ch i ld , from h is 

father's sh ipyard work clothes , wh i le hugg ing and p laying with h is father and 

help ing h is mother launder h is father's work clothes . "  F ind ing  of Fact 1 1 .  

On Apri l 1 0 , 20 1 8 , Carro l l ,  i nd ivid ua l ly and as the persona l  representative 

of her husband's estate , fi led a compla int agai nst N issan Motor Company Ltd . ,  

N issan North America (co l lective ly N issan) , and various other defendants i n  Ki ng 

County Super ior Cou rt . Th is compla int p rovided that "P la intiff c la ims l iab i l ity 

based upon the theories of prod uct l iab i l ity , i ncl ud i ng strict p roduct l iab i l ity u nder 

5 I n  her open ing  brief, Carro l l  states that "the autopsy t issue had  been destroyed under  
RPAS's standard pol icy . "  B r .  o f  Appel lant a t  1 9 . I n  its response brief, N issan states that " [t] he 
t issue b locks col lected i n  the autopsy were m iss ing and apparent ly destroyed . "  B r. of  Resp't at  
1 0 . 

5 
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Sect ion 402A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts , and neg l igence . "  Accord ing  

to  the compla int ,  Lawrence worked from 1 97 1  to  1 989 as a service and parts 

manager at several veh icle dealersh ips that were owned and operated by 

N issan .  The compla int a l leged that Lawrence was exposed to asbestos wh i le 

work ing at  these dealersh ips .  Thomas Owens ,  a member of the Wash ington bar, 

s ig ned the compla int .  Karst was l isted on the compla int as "of counse l . "6 

King County Superior Court's 20 1 1 revised consol idated pretria l  style 

order app l icab le to asbestos l it igation requ i red "[p] la i ntiffs' counsel" to "execute a 

stipu lat ion for the re lease of employment re lated records , "  i nc lud ing "socia l  

secu rity records , "  to "counsel for a l l  parties with i n  90 days of fi l i ng  the Compla i nt . " 

On J une 1 1 ,  20 1 8 ,  p rior to N issan being served with a summons and 62 days 

after the compla int was fi led , Karst's paralega l  sent an e-mai l  message to the 

attorneys for al l  defendants who ,  at that t ime, had fi led a notice of appearance .  

Th i s  e-ma i l  message conta ined med ical and  b i l l i ng records .  Although th i s  e-mai l  

message stated that "updated authorizat ions" were also attached , such 

authorizations were , accord ing to a declaration of Karst's paralegal , i nadvertently 

not attached to this message .  

On September 28 ,  20 1 8 , Carro l l ' s  attorneys subm itted answers to  style 

i nterrogatories that were requ i red to be answered under King County Super ior 

Court's 20 1 8 second revised conso l idated pretria l  style order. Carro l l  

subsequently verified with her s ignatu re the veracity of  the answers to  these style 

6 On October 1 2 , 2020 ,  the su perior cou rt entered an order adm itti ng Karst to practice in 
Wash ington pro hac vice. 

6 
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i nterrogatories . 7  I nterrogatory 20 requested that Carro l l  attach a copy of any 

death certificate to her response .  Accord i ng ly ,  Carro l l  attached a true copy of 

Lawrence's death certificate . Next , i nterrogatory 2 1  requested that Carro l l  attach 

a copy of any autopsy report .  Carro l l  answered , "Not App l icab le . "  Add it iona l ly ,  

i nterrogatory 22 requested that Carro l l  p rovide i nformation regard i ng any 

specimens or tissue samp les taken or reta i ned from any autopsy. Ca rro l l  aga in  

answered , "Not App l icab le . "  

On October 9 ,  20 1 8 , s ix months after Carro l l  fi led her  comp la int ,  N issan 

Motor Company Ltd . was fi na l ly served with a summons . 8 This de lay in service 

resu lted from N issan 's i ns istence that it be served accord i ng to the d ictates of the 

Hague Convention . Sometime thereafter, both N issan Motor Company Ltd . and 

N issan North America , I nc .  fi led notices of appearance .  9 On October 24 , 20 1 8 ,  

Karst's para lega l  sent updated authorizations "to counsel who had appeared i n  

t he  case a t  that time . "  The  parties ag ree that t h i s  d id not inc lude N issan . 

Also on October 24 , 20 1 8 ,  Leeper sent an e-ma i l  message to Owens .  I n  

th is message ,  Leeper i ntrod uced herself as counsel for N issan Motor Company 

Ltd . Leeper also sought "to fi nd out the status of the case" and asked whether 

" records authorizations [had]  been provided as requ i red under the style ru les . "  

The next day, Owens responded , " I  no longer use or mon itor  th is o l d  AOL 

7 Carro l l  s ig ned the answers to these in terrogatories on October 1 0 , 20 1 8 . The answers 
were prepared by her lawyers or members of their staff. 

8 The record does not conta in  a copy of the summons that was served on N issan North 
America, I nc. However, accord i ng  to N issan 's motion to stri ke Carro l l ' s  compla int ,  N issan North 
America, I nc. "was not served u nti l approximate ly August 28, 20 1 9 . "  

9 The  record does not conta in  the notices o f  appearance fi led by  these N issan entit ies. 
However, accord ing  to a motion that was fi led by Carro l l  i n  the superior cou rt, "N issan Motor Co. 
Ltd . d id  not fi le a notice of appearance . . .  u nti l December 1 0 , 20 1 8 , "  and " N issan North America 
I nc. d id  not fi le a notice of appearance u nti l August 28 ,  20 1 9 . "  

7 
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account - p lease use my gma i l  add ress on ly . " 1 0  Owens then d i rected N issan 's 

counsel to contact Cheryl Guckian ,  a lega l  ass istant at Karst's law fi rm , for the 

status of the records authorizations .  That same day, Leeper responded , "Thank 

you . "  The record does not conta in  an e-ma i l  message sent by Leeper to Guckian 

requesti ng any records authorizations .  

On December 2 1 , 20 1 8 , Leeper sent an e-mai l  message to Owens 

where in  she attached a letter " requesti ng p la intiff [to] p reserve[] a l l  t issue re levant 

to Mr. Carro l l ' s  a l leged mesothel ioma and notice prior to any destructive test ing 

be ing conducted . "  In th is letter , Leeper stated , " If you object to preservat ion of 

any re levant t issue and/or prior notice of destructive testi ng , ki nd ly notify us by 

close of bus i ness on January 4, 20 1 9 , so we may take appropriate act ion with 

the court . "  Accord ing to a declaration of Leeper, Owens "never responded to 

[th is] letter. " However, Leeper sent th is e-mai l  message to the same e-ma i l  

add ress that Owens had previously i nformed Leeper that he ne ither used nor 

mon itored rather than uti l iz ing the then-correct e-mai l  add ress he had fu rn ished 

her .  

On January 3 1 , 201 9 ,  N issan served Carro l l  with its fi rst i nterrogatories 

and requests for production .  One of these requests for prod uct ion stated : 

"P lease prod uce cop ies of a l l  app l ications and supporti ng documents subm itted 

to any bankruptcy trust by or on behalf of the p la i ntiff or the c la ims of the p la i ntiff 

here in . "  On June 3, 20 1 9 ,  Owens s ig ned answers to these interrogatories and 

requests for prod uction .  S imu ltaneously ,  Owens provided certa i n  re leases for 

1 0  I n  th is e-ma i l  message ,  Owens provided a n  a lternate e-mai l  add ress to Leeper. 

8 
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the bankruptcy trust claims. On June 1 4, 201 9, Nissan sent a second request for 

production seeking further documentation concern ing the bankruptcy trust 

claims. On Ju ly 1 2 , 201 9,  Carroll provided Nissan with al l  of the remaining 

documentation related to these claims. According to the declaration of Leeper, 

"N issan Entities had no knowledge of decedent's exposure to asbestos from his 

father's shipyard work clothes during WWII" until Carroll produced the 

documentation relating to the bankruptcy trust claims on July 1 2 . 

On May 28, 201 9-before Carroll responded to Nissan's first 

interrogatories and requests for production-Leeper participated in a CR 26(i) 

conference with Karst. During this conference, according to her declaration ,  

Leeper requested Karst to provide N issan with "a current authorization form . . .  

to obtain Lawrence Carro l l's social security records." Three days later, according 

to the declaration of Leeper, "Plaintiff's counsel produced the social security 

records of Lawrence Carroll he had in his possession." Subsequently, on July 7 ,  

201 9, Leeper sent an e-mail message to Karst and Owens "checking on the 

status of the updated medical, employment, etc. authorizations [that Karst] 

promised on May 28, 201 9." The record does not contain a response from either 

Karst or Owens to this e-mail message. Then, on July 30, 201 9, Leeper sent 

another e-mail message to Karst and Owens requesting "updated medical, 

employment, etc. authorizations [that Karst] promised on May 28, 201 9."  On 

August 1 ,  201 9,  Karst's paralegal provided Leeper with these authorizations. 

9 
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The initial deadline for disclosure of trial witnesses was April 1 5 , 201 9. 

Approximately six weeks after this deadline, on May 29, Carroll disclosed her trial 

witnesses to Nissan. 

Previously, on March 26, 201 9, Nissan deposed Carroll's son ,  Douglas 

Carrol l .  During this deposition, Nissan's counsel asked Douglas whether an 

autopsy had been performed : 

Q.  Okay. And when [your father] passed, is there a 
reason,  then ,  why an autopsy was not performed? 

A. I thought there was. I -- I don't know. 
Q.  Other than anything told to you by an attorney or from 

Mr. Karst or his firm, did anyone else tell you not to have an 
autopsy performed? 

A. I wasn't involved. 
Q.  Who made that decision ,  do you know, regarding not 

having an autopsy? 
A. I 'm not -- my mom. I don't -- I don't know. 

Karst, who was present at the deposition, did not inform Nissan that an 

autopsy had been performed . 

On December 1 9, 201 9, Nissan deposed Carrol l .  At the time of the 

deposition, Carroll was over 80 years old and testifying more than three and a 

half years after her husband had passed away on April 1 8, 201 6.  During this 

deposition, Nissan's counsel asked Carroll whether an autopsy had been 

performed: 

Q. I understand that when your husband passed away 
there was no autopsy that was done. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, they did.  
Q. They did an autopsy? 
A. I don't know. I thought they did. Maybe they didn't. I 

don't know. 
Q. Okay. But you know that you did not tell anybody "do 

not do an autopsy"? 
A. No,  I didn't tell anybody that. 

1 0  
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Carro l l ' s  attorney George Kim , 1 1  who was present at the deposition , d id 

not i nform N issan that an autopsy had been performed . 

Du ring the cou rse of d iscovery, the tria l  cou rt conti nued the tria l  date 

severa l t imes . An orig ina l  order provided that the d iscovery cut-off date was 

August 5 ,  20 1 9 and the tria l  date was September 23 ,  20 1 9 .  On J une 7, 20 1 9 , 

the tria l  cou rt entered a stipu lated order conti nu ing both the d iscovery cut-off date 

to December 3 1 , 201 9 and the tria l  date to February 1 8 , 2020 .  Then ,  on 

November 2 1 , 20 1 9 , the tria l  cou rt entered a second stipu lated order conti nu i ng 

both the d iscovery cut-off date to Apri l 20 ,  2020 and the tr ial date to J une 8 ,  

2020 . F ina l ly ,  d ue to the COVI D-1 9 pandem ic ,  the tria l  cou rt, on Apri l 9 ,  2020 , 

conti nued both the d iscovery cut-off date to September 2 1 , 2020 and the tria l  

date to November 9 ,  2020 .  

On September 14 ,  2020 ,  N issan fi led a motion to  stri ke Carro l l ' s  compla int 

as a sanct ion for Carro l l  and her counsel comm itt ing various a l leged d iscovery 

vio lations .  Th is motion also requested an award of monetary sanctions .  I n  its 

motion , N issan c la imed that: 

• Carro l l  and her counsel wi l lfu l ly destroyed , or a l lowed to be 
destroyed , tissue samp les from the autopsy; 

• Carro l l  and her counsel fa i led to d isclose i nformation regard i ng 
the autopsy i n  the i r  responses to style i nterrogatories 1 6 , 2 1 , 
and 22 ; 

• Carro l l  and her son ,  Douglas ,  p rovided fa lse and mis lead ing 
test imony regard i ng the autopsy du ring the i r  deposit ions ;  

• Carro l l  and her counsel wi l lfu l ly fa i led to d isclose i nformat ion 
regard i ng the bankruptcy trust c la ims i n  response to style 
i nterrogatory 1 3 ; 

1 1  Kim ,  an attorney l icensed to practice law i n  Cal iforn ia a n d  Oregon ,  was adm itted to 
practice i n  Wash ington pro hac vice on August 20 ,  20 1 9 . He is an attorney i n  Karst's law fi rm . 
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• Carro l l  and her counsel wi l lfu l ly prod uced fa lse evidence in  
response to  style i nterrogatory 20 ,  which requested a copy of 
the death certificate ; 

• Carro l l  and her counsel fa i led to t imely d isclose Social Secu rity 
authorizations ;  

• Carro l l  and her counsel fa i led to t imely d isclose her tria l  witness 
l ist; and 

• Carro l l  and her counsel de layed making both Carro l l  and an 
expert witness avai lab le for deposit ions .  

A lso i n  th is motion ,  N issan averred that, " [h]ad Mr. Carro l l ' s  l u ng tissue 

been preserved , the N issan Entit ies cou ld have had the i r  own experts conduct a 

fiber bu rden ana lys is to see if h is l ungs contai ned amph ibole or ch rysot i le 

asbestos fibers and the quantity of those fibers . "  Accord ing to N issan 's motion : 

Datsun  and N issan veh icles' asbestos-conta i n i ng brakes , clutches , 
and gaskets conta i ned on ly commercia l  ch rysoti le asbestos fibers 
that were encapsu lated i n  a bonded matrix. Many prod ucts used i n  
t he  sh ipyards du ring WWI I ,  where Mr. Carro l l ' s  father worked as  a 
welder ,  conta i ned amph ibole asbestos fibers ,  a h i gh ly carci nogen ic 
type of asbestos fi ber that is wel l  documented to cause d isease i n  
humans when i nha led . 1 1 21 

(Footnotes om itted . )  

On October 1 6 , 2020 ,  the tria l  cou rt heard N issan 's motion to  stri ke the 

comp la int .  Du ring the hearing , the tr ial cou rt expressed its i ntent ion to g rant the 

motion . On November 1 2 , 2020 ,  Carro l l  fi led a motion for reconsideration . I n  

th is motion , Carro l l  requested that the tria l  cou rt " impose the lesser sanct ion of a 

1 2  I n  support of these cla ims ,  N issan cited to both ( 1 ) the declaration of Leeper, and (2) 
deposit ion testimony from an expert witness, Dr. Jacque l i ne  Mo l i ne .  In her declaration , Leeper 
stated : " It is my u nderstand ing u pon information and bel ief that when Datsun  and N issan brand 
veh icles had asbestos-contai n i ng  brakes, c lutches and gaskets , the type of  asbestos used i n  
those component parts was ch rysoti le asbestos . "  By  contrast, Dr .  Mo l i ne testified that the  type of 
asbestos fi ber that was genera l ly  present in sh ipyards du ri ng  the 1 940s was amph ibole asbestos 
fi ber. However, Dr. Mo l i ne also testified that, in sh i pyards du ri ng  the 1 940s, "chrysoti le was used 
on gaskets and packing and th ings a long those l i nes . "  Duri ng  the deposit ion ,  Leeper moved to 
stri ke Dr. Mo l i ne 's response regard ing  ch rysot i le asbestos fi bers as "non-responsive . "  Th is 
motion was never presented to the tr ia l  cou rt for a ru l i ng .  

1 2  
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j u ry instruct ion that, had tissue from the 20 1 6  autopsy been reta ined , it wou ld 

l i kely have shown the presence of amph ibole asbestos fibers . "  On December 2 ,  

the tria l  cou rt den ied the motion for reconsideration without exp lanation . 

On January 1 9 , 202 1 , the tria l  cou rt entered its written order g ranti ng 

N issan 's mot ion to strike Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  In th is order ,  the tria l  cou rt d id not 

cons ider or  eva luate Carro l l ' s  p roposal for an adverse i nference j u ry i nstruct ion 

as a lesser sanction . On Apri l  1 ,  the tria l  court entered an order g rant i ng 

N issan 's mot ion for an award of attorney fees and costs agai nst Carro l l  and her 

attorneys . Th is order provided that Carro l l ,  Karst , and Kim were jo i ntly and 

severa l ly l iab le for an award of $76 ,477 .46 i n  attorney fees and costs to N issan . 1 3  

That same day, the tr ial cou rt entered a separate order award ing N issan $ 1 , 000 

i n  attorney fees and costs aga inst Owens .  

Carro l l  appea ls .  N issan cross appeals .  

I I  

Carro l l  contends that the tria l  cou rt erred by g ranti ng N issan 's motion to 

stri ke the compla int .  Because none of the conduct that the tr ial court found to 

amount to a d iscovery vio lat ion met a l l  of the factors requ i red to justify the 

imposit ion of the most severe d iscovery sanction , we ag ree . 

1 3  I n  her open ing  brief, Carro l l  ass igns error to the tr ial court's "Order and J udg ment for 
N issan 's attorney fees and costs . "  Br. of Appe l lant  at 3 .  However, Carro l l  does not provide any 
argument i n  her brief regard ing th is order. Accord i ng ly ,  we decl i ne  to review th is particu lar 
assignment of error. See Satomi  Owners Ass 'n v. Satomi, LLC,  1 67 Wn .2d 78 1 ,  807-08 ,  225 
P . 3d 2 1 3 (2009) ; RAP 1 0 . 3(a)(6) . 

1 3  
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A 

The contro l l i ng  ru les of law are eas i ly stated . The i r  app l ication i n  

particu lar  cases , however, can p rove more d ifficu lt .  

"A tria l  cou rt exercises broad d iscret ion i n  impos ing d iscovery sanct ions 

under CR 26(g) or  37(b) , and its determ inat ion wi l l  not be d istu rbed absent a 

clear abuse of d iscretion . "  Mayer v. Sto I ndus . ,  I nc . , 1 56 Wn .2d 677 , 684 , 1 32 

P . 3d 1 1 5 (2006) . An abuse of d iscret ion occurs when the tria l  cou rt's decis ion is 

man ifestly un reasonable ,  or  exercised on untenable g rounds ,  or  for untenab le 

reasons .  Mayer, 1 56 Wn .2d at 684 . "A d iscret ionary decis ion rests on 

' u ntenable g rounds' or is based on ' u ntenable reasons' i f  the tria l  cou rt re l ies on 

unsupported facts or app l ies the wrong lega l  standard ;  the court's decis ion is 

'man ifestly un reasonable'  ' if the court , desp ite app lyi ng the correct lega l  standard 

to the supported facts , adopts a view that no reasonable person wou ld  take . "' 

Mayer, 1 56 Wn .2d at 684 ( i nterna l  quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  

Roh rich , 1 49 Wn .2d 647 , 654 , 7 1  P . 3d 638 (2003)) . 

" I f  a tria l  cou rt's fi nd ings of fact are clearly unsupported by the record , then 

an appe l late court wi l l  fi nd that the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscretion . "  Magana v.  

Hyunda i  Motor Am . ,  1 67 Wn .2d 570 , 583 , 220 P . 3d 1 9 1 (2009) . "A tria l  cou rt's 

fi nd i ngs of fact are reviewed for substantia l  evidence ,  'wh ich requ i res that there 

be a sufficient quantum of evidence i n  the record to persuade a reasonable 

person that a fi nd i ng of fact is true . "' Conway Constr. Co .  v .  C ity of Puya l l up ,  1 97 

Wn .2d 825 ,  830 ,  490 P . 3d 22 1 (202 1 )  (quoti ng Pardee v. Jo l ly, 1 63 Wn .2d 558 ,  

566 , 1 82 P . 3d 967 (2008)) . However, uncha l lenged fi nd i ngs of fact are treated 

1 4  
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as verities on appea l .  P ierce v. B i l l  & Me l inda Gates Found . ,  1 5  Wn . App .  2d 

4 1 9 , 429 , 475 P . 3d 1 0 1 1 (2020) . Fu rthermore ,  we review conclus ions of law de 

nova . Conway, 1 97 Wn .2d at 830 . 

The tria l  cou rt here in  g ranted N issan 's motion to stri ke the compla int 

pu rsuant to CR 37(b)(2) . 1 4  "The sanct ion of d ism issal for fa i l u re to comp ly with 

d iscovery orders is the most severe sanct ion which a cou rt may app ly ,  and its 

use must be tempered by the carefu l exercise of j ud ic ia l  d iscret ion to assure that 

its imposit ion is merited . "  Anderson v. Mohundro ,  24 Wn . App .  569,  575 , 604 

P .2d 1 8 1 ( 1 979) . Accord ing ly ,  we have exp la i ned that "Wash i ngton courts 

shou ld not resort to d ism issal l ig htly . "  Aposto l is v. C ity of Seattle , 1 0 1 Wn . App .  

300 ,  305 , 3 P . 3d 1 98 (2000) . 

I ndeed , when impos ing d iscovery sanctions ,  tria l  cou rts must be m indfu l  

that '" [t] he law favors reso l ut ion of cases on the i r  merits . "' Bu rnet v .  Spokane 

Ambu lance ,  1 3 1 Wn .2d 484 ,  498 ,  933  P .2d 1 036 ( 1 997) (quoti ng Lane v.  Brown 

& Haley, 8 1  Wn . App .  1 02 ,  1 06 ,  9 1 2  P .2d 1 040 ( 1 996) ) ;  see CR 1 .  To th is end , 

the court shou ld impose the least severe sanction that wi l l  be 
adequate to serve the pu rpose of the particu lar sanction , but not be 
so m i n imal  that it underm ines the pu rpose of d iscovery; the 
purpose of sanctions generally are to deter, to punish, to 

14 This ru le provides, in perti nent part: 
(2) Sanctions by Court in Which Action Is Pending. I f  a party or an 

officer, d i rector, or manag ing  agent of a party or a person designated under  ru le 
30(b)(6) or 31 (a) to testify on behalf of a party fa i ls  to obey an order to provide or  
perm it d iscovery , i ncl ud i ng  an order made under  section (a)  of  th is ru le or ru le 
35 ,  or if a party fa i ls  to obey an order entered under ru le 26(f} ,  the court i n  which 
the act ion is pend ing may make such orders in  regard to th e fa i l u re as are just, 
and among others the fo l lowing :  

(C )  An  order stri k ing ou t  plead ings or parts thereof, or stay ing fu rther 
proceed ings unt i l  the order is obeyed , or d ism iss ing the action or proceed ings or 
any part thereof, or renderi ng a judgment by defau lt aga inst the d isobed ient 
party . 

CR 37(b)(2 ) .  

1 5  
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compensate, to educate, and to ensure that the wrongdoer does 
not profit from the wrong. 

Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 495-96 (emphasis added) (citi ng Wash .  State Physic ians 

I ns .  Exchange & Ass' n v .  F isons Corp . , 1 22 Wn .2d 299 ,  355-56 , 858 P .2d 1 054 

( 1 993)) . 

Put d ifferently, the "sanction shou ld be p roportiona l  to the d iscovery 

vio lat ion and the ci rcumstances of the case . "  Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 590 . 

With regard to extreme sanct ions imposed pursuant to CR 37(b) , our  

Supreme Court has exp la i ned : 

If a tria l  cou rt imposes one of the more "harsher remed ies" 
under CR 37(b) , then the record must clearly show ( 1 ) one party 
wi l lfu l ly or  de l iberate ly v io lated the d iscovery ru les and orders ,  (2) 
the oppos ing party was substantia l ly prejud iced in its ab i l ity to 
prepare for tria l , and (3) the tria l  cou rt exp l icitly cons idered whether 
a lesser sanct ion wou ld  have sufficed . 

Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at  584 (citi ng Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at  494) . 

Notab ly ,  the party seeki ng the imposit ion of an extreme d iscovery sanct ion 

bears the bu rden of estab l ish i ng that the vio lat ion was wi l lfu l or de l iberate and 

that the vio lat ion substantia l ly prejud iced that party's ab i l ity to prepare for tria l . 

Teter v.  Deck, 1 74 Wn .2d 207 , 2 1 6- 1 7 ,  274 P . 3d 336 (20 1 2) (cit ing Bu rnet , 1 3 1 

Wn .2d at 494) . I n  Bu rnet, ou r  Supreme Court exp la i ned that a party seeking a 

severe d iscovery sanct ion was not substant ia l ly prejud iced i n  its ab i l ity to prepare 

for tria l  when ,  after that party rece ived the information it sought ,  a s ign ificant 

amount of time remained before tr ial was set to commence :  

Sacred Heart also cites two post-F isons decis ions i n  which 
the Cou rts of Appeals upheld the respective tria l  cou rts' imposit ion 
of sanct ions for what were considered to be "wi l lfu l "  v io lat ions of 
d iscovery ru les . I n  one of the cases , Al l ied F i n .  Servs . v. Magnum , 

1 6  



No .  82245-4- 1/1 7 

72 Wn . App .  1 64 ,  1 68 ,  864 P .2d 1 ,  87 1 P .2d 1 075 ( 1 993) , the tr ial 
cou rt excluded witnesses for the defendants because they cou ld 
not provide an exp lanat ion for fa i l i ng , up  to the t ime of tria l , to name 
any of the i r  witnesses . In the other case , Dempere v .  Nelson , 76 
Wn . App .  403 , 405 , 886 P .2d 2 1 9 ( 1 994) , review den ied , 1 26 
Wn .2d 1 0 1 5  ( 1 995) , the tria l  cou rt excl uded a witness that the party 
identified on ly 1 3  days before tria l . 

. . .  [T]he c i rcumstances of th is case are far d ifferent than 
those which the Court of Appeals faced in the two above-cited 
cases . One major d ifference is that although several years had 
transp i red from the i n it iat ion of the Bu rnets' claim unt i l  the i r  expert 
witnesses were named , deposed , and the i r  op i n ions [were] clearly 
identified , a s ign ificant amount of t ime yet remai ned before tria l . 
That be ing the case , Sacred Heart cou ld not be said to have been 
as g reatly prejud iced as the non-wrongdoing parties in Al l ied and 
Dempere ,  who engaged i n  the sanctionab le conduct on the eve of 
tria l . 1 1 51 

Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 496 . 

B 

I n  g rant i ng N issan 's motion to strike Carro l l ' s  comp la int ,  the tria l  cou rt 

concl uded that the accumu lat ion of numerous d iscovery vio lat ions met a l l  of the 

factors set forth in Bu rnet that are requ i red to be satisfied in order for a tria l  cou rt 

to impose severe d iscovery sanctions .  However, a carefu l review of the record 

demonstrates that none of the conduct that the tria l  cou rt re l ied on i n  d ism iss ing 

Carro l l ' s  c la ims met a l l  of  these factors . 

I n  sect ion I l l  of th is op in ion , we add ress various conduct on behalf of 

Carro l l  that, contrary to the tr ial cou rt's fi nd ings ,  d id not amount to d iscovery 

vio lat ions at a l l .  The pr imary d ispute i n  th is appeal concerns whether Carro l l  had 

a ru le-based d uty to reta i n  t issue samp les from the autopsy that occurred two 

1 5  I n  the Bu rnet case, the deposit ions occu rred i n  December 1 990 .  1 3 1 Wn .2d at 490.  
The tria l  commenced i n  January 1 993 .  Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 491 . Therefore , when Sacred 
Heart deposed the witnesses in question , approximate ly 25 months remained before tria l  was 
u lt imate ly set to commence. 

1 7  
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years before th is lawsu it commenced . She d id not .  No d iscovery ru le or  cou rt 

order cou ld have imposed such a d uty on Carro l l  before she fi led her comp la int .  

I ndeed , ne ither our  Supreme Court nor the superior cou rts are authorized to 

promu lgate court ru les that impose d uties on non l it igants before a lawsu it 

commences . To the contrary ,  it is the leg is latu re that is vested with the authority 

to impose such d uties on the general  pub l ic .  Yet no statute exists wh ich requ i red 

Carro l l  to preserve t issue samp les before th is lawsu it commenced . The superio r 

cou rt exceeded its authority by retroactive ly impos ing such a duty on Carro l l .  

The  tria l  cou rt a lso erroneously ru led that Carro l l  had  a d uty , pu rsuant to  a 

Ki ng County Superior Court style order app l icab le to asbestos l it igation , to 

provide Social Secu rity authorizat ions to N issan with i n  90 days after Carro l l  fi led 

her compla int .  Because N issan ins isted on be ing served process pursuant to the 

d ictates of the Hague Convention ,  N issan was not served process-and was 

thus not subject to the personal j u risd ict ion of the superior cou rt-unti l 

approximate ly six months after Carro l l  fi led her compla int .  Having decl i ned to 

vo l u ntari ly submit itse lf to the court's j u risd iction , N issan was not entit led to any 

benefit from any court order prior to becom ing subject to the court's authority .  

The tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng  otherwise. 

In add it ion ,  the tr ial cou rt abused its d iscret ion both by ru l i ng  that Carro l l  

engaged i n  d iscovery v io lat ions i n  respond ing to  style i nterrogatories 1 3 , 1 6 , and 

20 and by ru l i ng  that Carro l l  engaged i n  a d iscovery v io lat ion by not t imely 

making certa in  witnesses ava i lab le for deposition . 

1 8  
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I n  sect ion IV of th is op in ion , we add ress the tria l  cou rt's ru l i ng that Carro l l  

and her son , Douglas ,  p rovided inaccu rate and evasive responses du ring the i r  

deposit ions .  Because the  evidence i n  support of fi nd ing  that these responses 

were wi l lfu l ly evas ive is scant ,  the tria l  cou rt erred by deem ing the conduct of 

sufficient cu lpab i l ity to j ustify the extreme sanction of strik ing Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  

In sect ion V of th is op in ion , we add ress conduct that the tria l  cou rt 

properly found to constitute d iscovery vio lations .  I n  so do ing , we exp la in  that 

N issan fa i led to estab l ish that these vio lat ions substantia l ly prejud iced its ab i l ity 

to prepare for tria l . Accord i ng ly ,  these vio lat ions d id not warrant the extreme 

sanct ion of d ism issal of Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  I ndeed , on ly the most severe 

wrongdo ing resu lt ing i n  the most severe prejud ice warrants the imposit ion of the 

most severe d iscovery sanction . Carro l l  d id not engage in such severe 

wrongdo ing and N issan d id not estab l ish that it suffered such a deg ree of 

prejud ice .  

Because none  of the conduct that Carro l l  herself engaged i n  met a l l  of the 

factors that are requ i red to be satisfied u nder Bu rnet for the imposit ion of severe 

d iscovery sanctions ,  the tr ial cou rt abused its d iscret ion by impos ing the most 

severe d iscovery sanct ion aga inst Carro l l .  I n  reach ing th i s  decis ion , we stress 

that there is ample evidence in the record to support the monetary sanct ions that 

the tria l  cou rt imposed on Carro l l ' s  attorneys . I ndeed , Carro l l ' s  attorneys 

engaged i n  various acts of wrongdoing , wh ich were properly pun ished by the tria l  

cou rt .  We add ress the m iscond uct of Carro l l ' s  attorneys i n  sect ion VI . 

1 9  
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I l l  

A 

The primary dispute in this appeal concerns whether Carrol l ,  personally or 

through counsel, acted in violation of d iscovery rules with regard to the autopsy 

of Lawrence's body and, if so, whether that prejudiced Nissan's abil ity to prepare 

its case. In this regard, Carroll first asserts that, contrary to the trial court's 

findings of fact, she did not engage in a d iscovery violation by not causing to be 

preserved any tissue samples from the autopsy that was performed two years 

before this litigation commenced. We agree. 

The trial court found that "RPAS retained 35 slides of the partial autopsy 

but, six months [after the autopsy was performed], pursuant to its policy gave a// 

remaining unclaimed tissue and fluid to medical research." Finding of Fact 6 

(emphasis added). The autopsy was performed on April 21 , 201 6-24 months 

before Carroll filed her complaint on April 1 0 , 201 8.  

Leeper's declaration provided that on April 1 5, 201 9-approximately one 

year after Carroll filed her complaint-RPAS "ceased operations." Nevertheless, 

Leeper "was able to locate and obtain from I l lume Pathology . . .  documents and 

35 slides." Leeper additionally stated that "[!]here were no autopsy photographs, 

no tissue blocks, no wet lung tissue nor other organs with the materials" that she 

obtained from I l lume Pathology. According to Leeper, she was "not . . .  able to 

determine if Plaintiff's counsel or anyone else has possession of autopsy 

specimens or tissue samples, or if they have al l  been destroyed."  As already 

explained, the parties now agree that any tissue samples have likely since been 
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destroyed . However, there is no ind icat ion i n  the record as to when ,  exactly, any 

uncla imed tissue samples or reta i ned h isto logy b locks were destroyed by RPAS , 

I l l ume Patho logy, or  some un identified th i rd party. 

S ign ificantly, the tr ial cou rt concl uded that Carro l l  had a d uty to reta in  

tissue samp les after the autopsy was performed and years before she fi led her  

comp la int :  

There is no requ i rement that there be an autopsy or that samples 
be reta i ned , but it is certainly within the spirit of the discovery rules 
that when an autopsy occurs, oppos ing counsel is to ld ( if there is 
oppos ing counsel at the t ime, which i n  th is case there was not) and 
samples are retained. That is s imp ly fa i r  p lay.  

F i nd i ng of Fact 23 (emphasis added) . 1 6  

The court also found that Carro l l  den ied N issan the opportun ity to test 

these tissue samples :  

Because the  company that d id the autopsy is no longer i n  
existence ,  the witnesses and  the mater ia ls are gone .  There was a 
request by Defendants to P la intiff with regard to preservi ng a l l  
t issue of  decedent Lawrence Carro l l .  By then it was too late , and 
the P la i ntiff never responded . There was a den ia l  of  the chance to 
test the t issue .  

F i nd i ng of Fact 30 .  

For severa l reasons ,  the tr ial cou rt erred by ru l i ng that Carro l l  had a d uty 

to preserve t issue samples from an autopsy that was performed two years before 

th is l it igation commenced . F i rst, the ru les re l ied on by the tria l  cou rt s imp ly d id 

not app ly to the conduct of anyone prior to the fi l i ng  of th is lawsu it .  For its part ,  

N issan argues that pu rsuant to sect ion 6 .3 of both the 20 1 1 and 20 1 8  Ki ng 

1 6  This fi nd ing  of fact expresses a conclus ion of law, which is reviewed de nova. See 
Casterl i ne  v. Roberts , 1 68 Wn . App. 376, 381 , 284 P . 3d 743 (20 1 2) .  
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County Super ior Court style orders ,  Carro l l  "had a d uty to preserve Lawrence's 

remains for testi ng . " 1 7  However, the tria l  cou rt d id not ru le that Carro l l  had a d uty 

to reta in  t issue samp les pu rsuant to the word i ng of the style orders .  I nstead , the 

tria l  cou rt ru led that Carro l l  had a d uty to reta in  tissue samp les from the autopsy 

pu rsuant to "the sp i rit of the d iscovery ru les . "  

I n  any event, no cou rt ru le or  style order cou ld  have req u i red Carro l l  to 

preserve any t issue samp les before the l it igation commenced (much less reta i n  

Lawrence's remains for 24  months pend ing the fi l i ng of  a lawsu it) . I ndeed , the 

superior cou rt is not the leg is latu re and , thus ,  it cannot promu lgate cou rt rules 

that seek to impose duties on the pub l ic  i n  genera l-as opposed to actual  

l it igants . 

To the contrary ,  none of the sou rces of the jud iciary's authority to 

promu lgate court ru les authorize courts to adopt ru les that app ly to non l itigants 

before a lawsu it commences . F i rst , art icle IV, sect ion 24 of our  constitution 

provides:  "The j udges of the super ior cou rts , sha l l  from t ime to t ime,  estab l ish 

un iform ru les for the government of the superior cou rts . "  

Nearly a centu ry ago,  our  Supreme Cou rt defi ned the scope of th is 

constitutiona l  p rovis ion : 

It seems to us that the pu rpose of § 24 was to i nsure uniform 
ru les of m i nute procedu re ,  and that it shou ld be construed , not as a 
g rant of power to make broad and genera l  ru les , but as a l im itat ion 
upon the courts req u i ri ng that the customary ru les havi ng to do with 
the minutire of court government shou ld be un iform in character, so 
that attorney and cl ient shou ld not be hampered by fi nd ing  petty 
ru les i n  each court d iffer ing accord ing to the views of the particu lar  
j udge who presided over the tri buna l .  That the super ior cou rts have 
also conce ived that th is is the correct view may be demonstrated by 

17 Br. of Resp't at 38 .  
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an i nspection of the ru les adopted by the j udges of the super ior 
cou rts from t ime to t ime,  nearly al l  of which have for the i r  pu rpose a 
un iform ity i n  the deta i ls  of procedu re ,  so that tria ls and hearings 
may be had with the least i nconven ience to court and counse l .  

State ex re l .  Foster-Wyman Lumber Co.  v .  Superior Court of Ki ng County, 1 48 

Wash .  1 ,  1 0 , 267 P .  770 ( 1 928) . 

I n  other words ,  art ic le IV, sect ion 24 concerns ru les re lati ng to the 

procedu ra l  requ i rements that must be fo l l owed once a lawsu it has been 

commenced . I ndeed , th is constitut ional  provis ion authorizes super ior cou rts to 

promu lgate "customary ru les havi ng to do with the minutire of cou rt government . "  

State ex re l .  Foster-Wyman Lumber Co. , 1 48 Wash .  at 1 0 . It does not constitute 

"a g rant of power to make broad and general  ru les . "  State ex re l .  Foster-Wyman 

Lumber Co . ,  1 48 Wash . at 1 0 . As such , noth ing i n  art icle IV, sect ion 24 

authorizes the promu lgat ion of a ru le that wou ld impose a duty on the pub l ic  i n  

genera l  and  that does not re late to the governance of super ior cou rt procedu re .  

No r  cou ld any court ru le promu lgated by  our  Supreme Court impose a 

d uty on a non l it igant before a lawsu it commences . I ndeed , our  Supreme Court's 

authority to estab l ish ru les , which is cod ified i n  RCW 2 . 04 . 1 90 ,  provides : 

The supreme court sha l l  have the power . . .  genera l ly to regu late 
and prescribe by ru le the forms for and the k ind and character of 
the enti re pleading, practice and procedure to be used i n  a l l  su its , 
actions ,  appeals and proceed ings of whatever natu re by the 
supreme court ,  superior cou rts , and d istrict cou rts of the state . I n  
p rescrib ing such ru les the supreme court sha l l  have regard to the 
s imp l ificat ion of the system of p lead i ng ,  p ractice and proced u re in 
said cou rts to promote the speedy determ i nation of l it igation on the 
merits . 

(Emphasis added . )  
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The court has defi ned the mean ing of the terms "pract ice" and "proced u re" 

as used i n  th is statute as fo l lows : 

[W]hat constitutes practice and procedu re ,  i n  the law, is the mode 
of proceed ing by wh ich a lega l  rig ht is enforced , 

" . . .  that which regu lates the formal  steps i n  an act ion or 
other j ud ic ia l  p roceed ing ; the cou rse of proced u re i n  cou rts ; the 
form , manner and order i n  wh ich proceed ings have been , and are 
accustomed to be had ; the form , manner and order of carry ing on 
and conduct ing su its or prosecut ions i n  the cou rts th rough the i r  
various states accord ing to  the pr inc ip les of  law and the ru les la id 
down by the respective courts . "  31 Cyc. Law & Proced u re ,  p .  1 1 53 ;  
id . ,  32 , § 405 ; Rapalje & Lawrence's Law Dict ionary;  Anderson 's 
Law Dictionary;  Bouvier's Law Dictionary.  

State v .  Pavel ich , 1 53 Wash .  379 , 381 , 279 P .  1 1 02 ( 1 929) . 

The court has also adopted the fo l lowing defi n it ion of the term "process" 

as it is used in RCW 2 . 04 . 1 90 :  '" I n  a larger sense , "process" is equ ivalent to 

procedu re ,  and may inc lude a l l  steps and proceed ings in a cause from its 

commencement to its conclusion . "' State v .  F ie lds ,  85 Wn .2d 1 26 ,  1 29-30 , 530 

P .2d 284 ( 1 975) (emphasis added) (quoti ng Mob ley v.  Jackson ,  40 Ga .  App .  76 1 , 

766 , 1 5 1 S . E .  522 ( 1 930)) . Because any ru le promu lgated under RCW 2 . 04 . 1 90 

must re late to proced ural  matters once an act ion has been commenced , no court 

ru le adopted pursuant to th is authority cou ld impose a d uty on non l itigants before 

a lawsu it commences . 1 8  

By contrast, the leg is latu re i s  vested with the authority t o  create such 

d uties . I ndeed , " [t] he power of the leg is latu re to enact laws is un restra i ned , 

1 8  Superior cou rts also have the authority to adopt loca l  rules u nder CR 83. This ru le 
provides: " Each court by act ion of a majority of the judges may from t ime to t ime make and 
amend local ru les governing its practice not i ncons istent with these ru les . "  CR 83(a) (emphasis 
added) .  Th is ru le was adopted by our Supreme Cou rt pu rsuant to RCW 2 . 04 . 1 90 .  Adoption of 
Civ i l  Ru les for Superior Cou rt ,  7 1  Wn .2d at xvi i ,  cxl i i  ( 1 967) .  P la i n ly ,  CR 83 does not authorize 
superior cou rts to promu lgate ru les imposing d uties on the genera l  pub l ic .  
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un less , expressly or  by fa i r  i nference ,  it is p roh ib ited by the state or Federal  

constitution . "  Bu rns v .  Alderson ,  51 Wn .2d 8 1 0 ,  8 1 8 ,  322 P .2d 359 ( 1 958) . 

Pu rsuant to th is power, "the leg is latu re may impose lega l  duties on persons or 

other entit ies by proscrib i ng or mandat ing certa i n  conduct . "  Washburn v .  C ity of 

Federa l  Way, 1 78 Wn .2d 732 , 755 , 3 1 0 P . 3d 1 275 (20 1 3) . I ndeed , " [p]ub l i c  

po l icy is genera l ly determ ined by the Leg is latu re and estab l ished th rough 

statutory provis ions . "  Cary v. Al lstate I ns .  Co. , 1 30 Wn .2d 335 ,  340 ,  922 P .2d 

1 335 ( 1 996) . As such , "a cou rt may not sua sponte manufactu re pub l ic  po l icy but 

rather must re ly on that pub l ic  po l icy p reviously man ifested i n  the constitution ,  a 

statute , or  a prior cou rt decis ion . "  Roberts v. Dud ley, 1 40 Wn .2d 58 ,  65 ,  993 

P .2d 901 (2000) . 

Had a statute existed that requ i red Carro l l  to reta i n  t issue samp les before 

th is lawsu it commenced , she wou ld have been requ i red to do so .  However, no 

such statute exists . Fu rthermore ,  because cou rts cannot impose ru le-based 

d uties on non l it igants before a lawsu it commences , the super ior court erred by 

ru l i ng  that "the sp i rit of the d iscovery ru les" requ i red Carro l l  to reta in  tissue 

samp les before she fi led her compla int .  For th is same reason ,  N issan 's attempt 

to va l idate the tria l  court's ru l i ng  by reference to sect ion 6 . 3  of both the 20 1 1 and 

20 1 8  Ki ng County Super ior Court style orders is equa l ly unava i l i ng . 1 9  Carro l l  had 

1 9  I n  any event, by their  p la in  terms, both the 20 1 1 and 20 1 8 sty le orders apply on ly to 
l it igants and the i r  attorneys . I ndeed , section 6 . 3  of the 201 1 sty le order provides, i n  perti nent 
part: 

Plaintiff's counsel sha l l  attempt to obta in  authorizations for autopsies from each 
plaintiff, and autopsies shou ld be conducted for each plaintiff who exp i res for any 
reason during the pendency of this litigation , subject to re l ig ious or eth ica l 
considerations persona l  to that plaintiff or the immed iate fam i ly .  Defendants may 
provide a defense patholog ist at the i r  cost to observe the autopsy, who may 
request add itiona l  t issues be taken but sha l l  not otherwise partici pate i n  the 
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no duty-ru le-based or otherwise-to preserve any tissue samp les before the 

l it igation commenced . 

The tria l  cou rt a lso erred by fi nd ing  that Carro l l  engaged i n  a sanctionable 

d iscovery vio lat ion by not respond ing to N issan 's December 2 1 , 201 8 request to 

preserve any remai n i ng tissue samples .  Leeper sent th is letter by e-ma i l  to the 

same e-mai l  add ress that Owens ,  on October 25, 20 1 8 , had i nformed Leeper 

that he "no longer use[s] or  mon itor[s] . "  Because Leeper sent her letter by e-ma i l  

to  an e-ma i l  add ress that she knew Owens d id not mon itor ,  N issan d id not 

estab l ish that Owens wi l lfu l ly fa i led to respond . 

But most importantly, whether Owens shou ld have responded changed 

noth ing and had no impact on N issan 's ab i l ity to prepare a defense . Aga i n ,  there 

is no ind icat ion i n  the record that any tissue samp les existed when the l it igation 

performance of  the  autopsy. The  defense patholog ist sha l l  be  provided with 
access to tissue samp les, s l ides ,  and other matters reasonably necessary to 
make h is/her own d iagnosis .  Tissue s l ides and other factual data obta i ned by 
the autopsy physic ians and/or patho log ists sha l l  be made ava i lab le one to the 
other. All reports and information fu rn ished by the autopsy physic ian and/or 
patholog ist sha l l  be d istri buted to a l l  counsel. 

(Emphasis added . )  
Add it ional ly ,  sect ion 6 . 3  o f  the 20 1 8 sty le order provides,  i n  perti nent part: 

Shou ld  plaintiff decide to have an autopsy upon death , plaintiff's counsel 
sha l l  notify defendants with i n  five court days from the date plaintiff made that 
decis ion .  Plaintiff sha l l  pay half of the cost for that autopsy and defendants sha l l  
bear the other half of  the cost. Any defendant may provide a defense patholog ist 
at the i r  cost to observe the autopsy and/or may req uest addit ional  tissues be 
taken but sha l l  not otherwise part ic ipate in the performance of the autopsy. The 
defense patholog ist shal l  be provided with access to t issue samp les, s l ides ,  and 
other matters reasonable [sic] necessary to make h is/her own d iagnosis and/or 
causation op in ions .  Tissue ,  t issue s l ides and b locks together with any other 
factual data obta i ned by the autopsy phys ic ians and/or patholog ists sha l l  be 
made ava i lab le to any party . Al l  reports and information fu rn ished by the autopsy 
physician and/or patholog ist sha l l  be d istri buted to al l counsel. 

(Emphasis added . )  
B y  us ing terms a n d  phrases such a s  " p la i nt iff's counse l , "  " p la intiff, " "dur ing  the pendency 

of th is l it igation , "  "defendants , "  "counse l , "  "court days , "  and "defense , "  these orders p la i n ly apply 
on ly to those i n  active l it igation and on ly when an autopsy takes place du ri ng  the period of 
l it igation .  
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commenced and thus no ind icat ion that anyth i ng of va lue was withheld . 

Although the autopsy authorizat ion form stated that "h isto logy b locks sha l l  be 

reta i ned indefi n ite ly , "  there is no ind icat ion in the record as to what, exactly, 

h isto logy b locks are and whether such mater ia l  wou ld  have been usefu l to 

N issan .  Thus ,  even if N issan cou ld have d iscovered the h isto logy b locks before 

RPAS ceased operations on Apri l  1 5 , 20 1 9 , there is no support i n  the record that 

N issan was prejud iced by its i nab i l ity to retrieve any rema in ing  h isto logy b locks . 

Moreover, as a l ready exp la i ned , the tria l  cou rt found that, s ix months after the 

autopsy was performed , RPAS "gave a// remai n i ng uncla imed t issue and fl u id  to 

med ical research . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 6 (emphasis added ) .  Because th is fi nd ing  is 

unchal lenged on appea l ,  we must assume that any tissue samp les that m ight 

have been usefu l to N issan were donated to med ica l  research long before the 

l it igation commenced . See P ierce , 1 5  Wn . App .  2d at 429 . 

Nevertheless , N issan avers that " [t]he Estate and its counsel 's fa i l u re to 

notify N issan of the i r  i ntent to conduct an autopsy substantia l ly prejud iced 

N issan 's ab i l ity to p repare for tria l . ' >20 Accord ing to N issan ,  " [h]ad [ it] rece ived 

notice and partici pated in the autopsy, it wou ld  have been able to i ndependently 

examine and assess this h i gh ly probative evidence of what caused [the] a l leged 

mesothe l ioma. "2 1  Yet the tria l  cou rt expressly concl uded that Carro l l  did not have 

a d uty to i nform N issan of the autopsy when the autopsy occu rred : " [ l ]t is 

certa i n ly with i n  the sp i rit of the d iscovery ru les that when an autopsy occu rs , 

oppos ing counsel is to ld (if there is opposing counsel at the time, which in this 

20 Br. of Resp't at 45. 
2 1  Br. of Resp't at 45. 
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case there was not) . "  F ind i ng of Fact 23 (emphasis added) .  Th is ru l i ng  was 

correct . I ndeed , as a l ready exp la i ned , any notice requ i rements conta i ned with i n  

t he  superior cou rt's style orders d id not app ly to  Carro l l  before the l it igation 

commenced . Therefore , Carro l l  d id not have a d uty to i nform N issan of the 

autopsy before the autopsy occu rred . 22 

U ndeterred , N issan asserts that the tria l  cou rt's concl us ion that Carro l l  had 

a d uty to preserve the tissue samp les is supported by the record because the 

loss of any remain ing tissue samp les amounted to spol iation . 23 However, the 

tria l  cou rt d id not fi nd that Carro l l  engaged in spol iation . This is understandable 

g iven that there is no evidence i n  the record ind icati ng that Carro l l  engaged in 

spol iation . 

Spol iat ion is '" [t]he i ntentiona l  destruct ion of evidence . "' Henderson v .  

Tyrre l l ,  80 Wn . App .  592 , 605 , 9 1 0 P .2d 522 ( 1 996) (alterat ion i n  orig ina l )  

(q uoti ng BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1 40 1  (6th ed . 1 990) ) .  In  determ in i ng whether a 

party engaged i n  spol iation , "many courts examine whether the party acted i n  

bad fa ith or  conscious d isregard of  the importance of the evidence ,  or  whether 

there was some i nnocent exp lanat ion for the destruction . "  Henderson , 80 Wn . 

22 I n  any event, i t  i s  u nclear how, exactly, Carro l l  cou ld have notified anyone at N issan of 
the autopsy pr ior to it tak ing place .  I ndeed , N issan 's behavior in th is case is hard ly  a model of 
informal approachab i l ity. To the contrary , N issan i ns isted on be ing served summons i n  
accordance with the  d ictates of  the  Hag ue Convention .  As  a resu lt , N issan was not served and  
was not  subject to  the  cou rt's persona l  j u risd iction u nt i l  six months after Carro l l  fi led her  
compla i nt . I t  is not clear how Carro l l  cou ld have gone about notify ing anyone a t  N issan of  the 
autopsy that occu rred two years pr ior to l it igat ion commencing and three days after Lawrence's 
death . Most problematic is that N issan never suggests j ust who Carro l l  shou ld have notified at 
N issan about the impend i ng  autopsy. 

23 N issan 's merits brief asserts : "The Estate's conduct of the secret autopsy and 
subsequent destruction of the evidence demonstrates a conscious i ntent to frustrate leg it imate 
i nqu i ry by the defendants on th is vital topic .  Such classic spol iat ion was properly pun ished by the 
tria l  cou rt. " Br .  of Resp't at 38. 
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App .  at  609 .  Bad fa ith exists when there is "destruct ion that is both wi l lfu l and 

with an improper motive . "  5 KARL B .  TEGLAND ,  WASH INGTON PRACTICE :  EVIDENCE 

LAW AND PRACTICE § 402 . 5 ,  at 280 (6th ed . 20 1 6) . As such , "a party's neg l igent 

fa i l u re to preserve evidence re levant to foreseeable l it igation is not sanctionable 

spol iat ion . "  Cook v.  Tabert Logg ing ,  I nc . , 1 90 Wn . App .  448 , 464 , 360 P . 3d 855 

(20 1 5) .  However, " [n ]o bad fa ith , and thus ,  no spol iation , wi l l  be found if the party 

had no d uty to preserve the evidence i n  the fi rst p lace . "  5 TEGLAND ,  supra , at 

280 .  Furthermore ,  i n  determ in i ng whether a party acted i n  bad fa ith by 

destroying evidence before a lawsu it commences , cou rts shou ld cons ider 

whether a request to preserve the evidence had been made before the evidence 

was destroyed . Cook, 1 90 Wn . App .  at 464 ; Tava i v. Walmart Stores, I nc . , 1 76 

Wn . App .  1 22 ,  1 36 ,  307 P . 3d 8 1 1 (20 1 3) ;  Ripley v. Lanzer, 1 52 Wn . App .  296 ,  

326 , 2 1 5  P . 3d 1 020 (2009) . 

Carro l l  d id not have a d uty to preserve any rema in ing  t issue samp les 

before th is l it igation commenced . To re iterate , the trial cou rt found that, pu rsuant 

to RPAS's own retention po l icy ,  "a// rema in i ng uncla imed t issue and fl u id"  were 

donated "to med ical  research" six months after the autopsy was performed on 

Apri l 2 1 , 20 1 6 . F i nd i ng of Fact 6 (emphasis added) .  Because the rema in ing 

tissue samp les were d isposed of  pu rsuant to  RPAS's own retention po l icy before 

the l it igation commenced , Carro l l  d id not have a d uty to preserve any t issue 

samp les . See Cook, 1 90 Wn . App .  at 464 ; Tava i ,  1 76 Wn . App .  at 1 36 ;  Ripley, 

1 52 Wn . App .  at 326 ; Henderson , 80 Wn . App .  at 609 . I ndeed , even if Carro l l  

was viewed-for some unstated reason-as be ing neg l igent by not preserv ing 
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any rema in i ng t issue samp les , such a neg l igent fa i l u re to preserve evidence 

does not constitute spol iation . See Cook, 1 90 Wn . App .  at 464 . Therefore , 

N issan 's appe l late resort to a spol iat ion c la im does not serve to va l idate the tr ial 

cou rt's d ism issal order .  

But even if our j ust-stated concl us ion was d ifferent, the remedy imposed 

for an act of spol iation wou ld genera l ly be far less severe than the remedy 

imposed by the tr ial cou rt here in : 

If a party to a civi l case has destroyed re levant evidence i n  bad 
fa ith , the fact of destruction is normally admissible on the theory 
that the destruction suggests consciousness of potent ia l  l iab i l ity or  
consciousness of other  adverse consequences if the evidence were 
to be presented to a tr ier of fact . I n  other words ,  it reveals the 
party's own bel ief that he or she has a weak case . 

5 TEGLAND ,  supra ,  at 280 (emphasis added) .  

I ndeed , a t  t he  tu rn of the 20th centu ry, ou r  Supreme Cou rt exp la i ned : 

It is a ru le of evidence ,  as o ld as the law itself, app l icab le a l i ke to 
both civi l and crim ina l  causes , that a party's fraud i n  the preparation 
or presentat ion of h is  case , such as the suppress ion or attempt to 
suppress evidence by the bribery of witnesses or the spol iat ion of 
documents , can be shown against him as a circumstance tending 
to prove that his cause lacks honesty and truth . 

State v. Constanti ne ,  48 Wash .  2 1 8 , 22 1 ,  93 P .  3 1 7  ( 1 908) (emphasis added) .  

Approximate ly 70 years later , the court re iterated : 

We have previously he ld on severa l occas ions that where re levant 
evidence which wou ld  properly be a part of a case is with i n  the 
contro l  of a party whose i nterests it wou ld natu ra l ly be to prod uce it 
and he fa i ls  to do so , without satisfactory exp lanation ,  the only 
i nference which the fi nder of fact may d raw is that such evidence 
wou ld be unfavorab le to h im .  I n  so ho ld i ng ,  we have noted , '" [t]h is  
ru le is un iform ly app l ied by the cou rts and is an i nteg ra l part of  our  
j u risprudence . "' British Co lumb ia Breweries ( 1 9 1 8) Ltd . v .  King 
County, 1 7  Wn .2d 437 , 455 ,  1 35 P .2d 870 ( 1 943) (quoti ng with 
approva l 20 Am . J u r . § 1 83 ,  at 1 88) . See Bengston v .  Sha in , 42 
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Wn .2d 404 ,  255 P .2d 892 ( 1 953) ; Krieger v. McLaugh l i n , 50 Wn .2d 
46 1 , 3 1 3 P .2d 36 1 ( 1 957) . 

P ier 67, I nc .  v .  Ki ng County, 89 Wn .2d 379 , 385-86 , 573 P .2d 2 ( 1 977) 

(emphasis added) .  

Pu t  d ifferently, " [a] lthough the  fact o f  destruction is adm iss ib le to  create a 

negative i nference ,  the trad it iona l  ru le is that the negative i nference that fo l lows 

. . .  wi l l  not supply a m iss ing l i nk  i n  the adversary's case ; i . e . , it will not establish 

an essential fact not otherwise proved. " 5 TEGLAND ,  supra ,  at 282 (emphasis 

added) (footnote om itted) .  Such remed ies fa l l  far short of comp lete ly d ism iss ing 

a l l  of  a p la i ntiff's causes of action .  

Desp ite the fact that Carro l l  d id not engage i n  spol iation , the tria l  court ,  

without exp lanation , rejected her proposal for the imposit ion of a lesser sanct ion 

i n  l ieu of outrig ht d ism issa l :  an adverse i nference j u ry instruct ion that wou ld  have 

allowed the j u ry to i nfer an essent ia l fact that was not otherwise proved . 

Specifica l ly ,  approximate ly two months before the tria l  cou rt entered its fi na l  

order g rant i ng N issan's motion to stri ke the compla int ,  Carro l l  suggested that-in 

l ieu of d ism issal-the tria l  cou rt " impose the lesser sanct ion of a j u ry instruct ion 

that ,  had t issue from the 201 6 autopsy been reta i ned , it would likely have shown 

the presence of amphibole asbestos fibers . "  (Emphasis added . )  Th is instruct ion 

wou ld have provided a more than sufficient remedy for the lack of any tissue 

samp les be ing reta i ned . See Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 590 ("The d iscovery 

sanct ion shou ld be proport ional  to the d iscovery vio lat ion and the c ircumstances 

of the case . ") ;  Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 495-96 (" [T]he court shou ld impose the least 

severe sanct ion that wi l l  be adequate to serve the pu rpose of the particu lar  
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sanction . ") .  The tria l  cou rt's fa i l u re to properly cons ider this proposal for an 

adverse i nference j u ry instruct ion was contrary to Bu rnet and its case law 

progeny and constituted an abuse of d iscretion .  

To be clear, we do not ho ld  that d ism issal of a lawsu it or the  entry of a 

defau lt j udgment is never warranted when a party engages i n  spol iation . I ndeed , 

i n  J . K. by Wolf v. Bel levue Sch . D ist. No .  405 , we affi rmed a tria l  court's entry of 

a defau lt j udgment on l iab i l ity aga inst a defendant who both engaged i n  

spol iation and  provided unt imely and  incomp lete responses to i nterrogatories 

which requested i nformation concern ing the destroyed evidence . 20 Wn . App .  

2d  29 1 , 295-96 , 3 1 3- 1 4 ,  500 P . 3d 1 38 (202 1 ) . However, i n  that case , the 

defendant had a statutory d uty to preserve the evidence in question . J . K. ,  20 

Wn . App .  2d at 309 . Add it iona l ly ,  the defendant fa i led to preserve this evidence 

desp ite havi ng rece ived requests to do so-before the evidence was destroyed­

from both the p la i ntiff and the defendant's own counse l .  J . K. ,  20 Wn . App .  2d at 

309- 1 0 .  F ina l ly ,  the tr ial cou rt in that case considered an adverse i nference 

instruct ion that was proposed by the defendant ,  but concl uded that the instruct ion 

"wou ld not provide a sufficient pun ishment for, and deterrence against, evidence 

destruct ion and wou ld  d istract the j u ry from the merits of [the p la i ntiff] 's  c la ims by 

havi ng it focus on whether [the defendant] successfu l ly overcame the 

presumption . "  J . K. ,  20 Wn . App .  2d at 322 . 

None of the same factors are present here .  As a l ready exp la i ned , Carro l l  

d id not have a duty to  reta i n  tissue samples from an autopsy that occu rred years 

before th is l it igation commenced . Add it iona l ly ,  although Leeper sent Owens a 
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letter requesti ng the preservat ion of any remain i ng t issue samples,  Leeper sent 

th is letter to an e-ma i l  add ress that she knew he d id not mon itor. In any event, 

there is no evidence i n  the record that, when Leeper sent th is request to Owens ,  

any tissue samp les existed that wou ld have ass isted N issan in  prepari ng for tria l .  

F ina l ly ,  un l i ke the tr ial cou rt i n  J . K. ,  the tr ial cou rt here in  d id not consider a 

proposed adverse i nference instruction . For these reasons,  J . K. does not 

support the tria l  cou rt's decis ion to d ism iss a l l  of Carro l l ' s  cla ims .  

For the reasons set forth above , Carro l l  d id not have a duty to reta in  tissue 

samp les from the autopsy that occu rred two years before th is l it igation 

commenced . Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by impos i ng such 

a d uty on Carro l l .  Th is conduct d id not amount to a d iscovery v io lat ion and was 

improperly ana lyzed by the tria l  cou rt .  

B 

Carro l l  next asserts that the tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng that she engaged i n  

a d iscovery vio lat ion by fa i l i ng to provide N issan with Social Secu rity 

authorizations with i n  90 days after she fi led her comp la int .  We ag ree . 

N issan was served with a summons i n  a manner requ i red by the Hague 

Convention . As a resu lt ,  N issan was not served unt i l  October 9 ,  20 1 8 , which was 

six months after Carro l l  fi led her comp la int on Apri l  1 0 , 20 1 8 .  On May 3 1 , 20 1 9 , 

accord ing to the declaration of Leeper, "P la intiff's counsel p rod uced the social 

secu rity records of Lawrence Carro l l  he had in h is possess ion . "  Then ,  on 
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August 1 ,  20 1 9 ,  Karst's paralega l  p rovided Leeper with updated authorizations .  

The tria l  cou rt found that "P la i ntiff took a year to prod uce Lawrence 

Carro l l ' s  socia l  secu rity records i n  d iscovery. P la i ntiff was requ i red under the 

Revised Conso l idated Pretria l  Style Order to prod uce a cu rrent authorizat ion to 

obta in  socia l  secu rity records 90 days after the lawsu it was fi led . "  F ind i ng of Fact 

27 .  We d isag ree . Because N issan had not yet become subject to the personal  

j u risd ict ion of the court with i n  90 days after the lawsu it was fi led , th is fi nd i ng is 

erroneous.  

The style order re l ied on by the tria l  cou rt provided that "P la i ntiff's counsel 

sha l l  execute a sti pu lat ion for the re lease of employment re lated records . . .  and 

de l iver it to counsel for al l  parties with i n  90 days of fi l i ng  the Compla i nt . " 

Because N issan ins isted on be ing served i n  accordance with the d ictates of the 

Hague Convention , it was not served u nti l s ix months after Carro l l  fi led her 

comp la int .  Before N issan was served , N issan was not subject to the personal 

j u risd ict ion of the superior cou rt .  N issan ,  which had not yet accepted the cou rt's 

authority over itse lf, was not entitled to any benefit then app l icab le to those 

entit ies that had done so. S imp ly put , N issan was not a proper party to the 

lawsu it before it was served . Had N issan des i red to benefit from the provis ions 

of the style orders and re lated court ru les , it cou ld have accepted service and 

thereby subjected itself to the court's j u risd iction . I t d id the opposite .  As N issan 

was not subject to the court's contro l , neither was it entit led to benefit from the 

court's contro l  over others . The tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng otherwise . 24 

24 Furthermore ,  N issan was not prejud iced by receiv ing authorizations on Aug ust 1 ,  20 1 9 , 
which was 1 5  months before tria l  was u lt imate ly set to commence on November 9 ,  2020 .  
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C 

Carro l l  next contends that she d id not engage i n  a d iscovery vio lat ion i n  

response to  style i nterrogatory 1 3 . We ag ree . 

Style i nterrogatory 1 3  provided : 

If you contend decedent was exposed to asbestos or asbestos 
prod ucts under c i rcumstances outs ide of decedent's emp loyment, 
p lease state the fo l lowi ng : 
(a) The phys ical location ,  p lace and c i rcumstances of th is 

exposu re ;  
(b) The trade name, manufactu rer ,  p roduct type, and product 

contents to which decedent was exposed ; 
(c) The dates you contend decedent came i nto contact with 

each such product ;  and 
(d) The names and add resses of a l l  persons who have 

knowledge or witnessed th is exposu re .  

(Emphasis added . )  

Carro l l  subm itted the fo l lowing response to  style i nterrogatory 1 3 : 

"Decedent was exposed to asbestos du ring the 1 970s and 1 980s wh i le working 

occas iona l ly as a shade-tree mechan ic ,  us ing the same prod ucts identified i n  the 

Answer to I nterrogatory No. 1 2 . "  

The tria l  cou rt found that " i nterrogatory 1 3  was not l im ited to cla imed 

exposu res in th is case ; it asked about a l l  exposu res to asbestos . "  F i nd i ng of 

Fact 24 . Hence ,  the tria l  cou rt found that style i nterrogatory 1 3  requ i red Carro l l  

to  provide deta i ls  regard i ng the c la ims that she fi led i n  bankruptcy trust 

proceed ings .  F i nd i ngs of Fact 1 3  and 25 .  

A party respond i ng to  an i nterrogatory "shou ld  exercise reason and 

common sense to  attribute ord i nary defin it ions to  terms and ph rases uti l ized i n  

Because N issan was provided these authorizations long before tria l  was set to commence, its 
ab i l ity to prepare for tria l  was not shown to have been prejud iced . See Burnet, 1 3 1 Wn.2d at 496. 
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i nterrogatories . "  Pu lsecard ,  I nc. v .  D iscover Card Servs . ,  I nc . , 1 68 F . R . D .  295 ,  

3 1 0 (D .  Kan .  1 996) . Style i nterrogatory 1 3  can be found on Ki ng County's 

website . 25 A reasonable i nterpretat ion of this style i nterrogatory is that it is meant 

to app ly on ly when a p la i ntiff sues a defendant who is not a former employer, 

which was not the case here .  I ndeed , i nterrogatory 1 3  was prefaced with the 

sentence :  " If you contend decedent was exposed to asbestos or asbestos 

prod ucts under c i rcumstances outs ide of decedent's emp loyment . "  (Emphasis 

added . )  In the proceed ing herei n ,  Carro l l  d id not so contend . I nstead , Carro l l  

contended that her husband was exposed to  asbestos when he worked for 

N issan .  The i nterrogatory at issue was not worded to requ i re the answer the tria l  

cou rt found to be necessary.  

Because th is style i nterrogatory reasonably appears to be i ntended to 

app ly on ly to cases i n  which a p la i ntiff sues a defendant who is not a former 

emp loyer, and because Carro l l  was not advancing the content ion referenced 

there i n ,  the trial cou rt erred by fi nd ing that Carro l l  engaged in a d iscovery 

vio lat ion by way of her answer to the i nterrogatory.  Moreover, the tria l  cou rt 

erred by concl ud i ng that-by g iv ing a truthfu l answer to the p la in  mean ing of the 

i nterrogatory-Carro l l  willfully sought to answer untruthfu l ly .  26  

2 5  I n  particu lar, th is style i nterrogatory can be found  at  the fo l lowing hyperl i n k, where in  the 
interrogatory is a lso l isted as interrogatory 1 3  and ut i l izes the exact same formatting and font as 
the interrogatory used i n  th is case: https ://ki ngcounty.gov/~/med ia/cou rts/superior­
cou rt/docs/civi l/asbestos-forms/defense- interrogatories-to-deceased-pla intiff-pdf. ashx? la=en 
[https : //perma . cc/7ZDP-RNZR] .  

2 6  Add it ional ly ,  any delay i n  provid i ng  N issan with information regard i ng  the ban kruptcy 
trust c la ims d id  not prejud ice N issan because Carro l l  d isclosed th is information to N issan we l l  
before tria l .  I n  particu lar, Carro l l  provided N issan with certa i n  re leases re lati ng to  the  bankruptcy 
trust c la ims on J u ne 3, 20 1 9 ,  and a l l  rema in ing  documents re lated to these c la ims on J u ly 1 2 , 
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D 

We next add ress the tria l  cou rt's ana lys is of the propriety of Carro l l ' s  

behavior  concern i ng the bankruptcy trust cla ims .  With regard to these cla ims ,  

the tria l  cou rt found :  

The statements i n  [the bankruptcy trust] c la ims conflict with the 
a l legation in the instant Compla int that Lawrence Carro l l ' s  
mesothe l ioma resu lted from occupationa l  exposu res wh i le worki ng 
as a Parts Manager at Datsun  and N issan automobi le dealersh ips .  

F i nd i ng of Fact 1 2  (emphasis added) .  

S im i larly, t he  tria l  cou rt found : " I n  response to  the  i nterrogatory,  P la intiff 

shou ld have d isclosed the statements made in the Bankruptcy Court Trust c la im 

forms - materially inconsistent with the a l legat ions of the i nstant Compla int - but 

d id not . "  F ind ing  of Fact 25 (emphasis added) .  

I n  fact , Carro l l ' s  bankruptcy trust c la ims were not materia l ly i ncons istent 

with her c la ims fi led herei n .  I t  is wel l  estab l ished that " [t] here may, of cou rse , be 

more than one proximate cause of an i nj u ry ,  and the concu rri ng neg l igence of a 

th i rd party does not necessari ly break the causal cha in from orig ina l  neg l igence 

to fi na l  i nj u ry . "  Sm ith v. Acme Pavi ng Co. , 1 6  Wn . App .  389 , 396 , 558 P .2d 8 1 1 

( 1 976) . As such , Carro l l ' s  a l legation that Lawrence's mesothel ioma was 

proximate ly caused du ring the t ime that he worked for N issan was not 

i ncons istent with her cla ims fi led i n  the bankruptcy trust proceed ings .  27 

20 1 9 . By the time Carro l l  provided al l rema in ing  bankru ptcy trust documents to N issan ,  tria l  was 
u lt imate ly set to commence 1 6  months later on November 9, 2020 .  Because a s ign ificant amount 
of t ime remained before tria l ,  any de lay i n  provid i ng  N issan with the documents re lated to th e 
bankruptcy trust c la ims was not shown to have prejud iced N issan .  See Burnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 
496. 

27 We note , however, that pu rsuant to RCW 4 .22 . 070( 1 } ,  the acts of an entity that is not a 
party to the lawsu it may l im it the amount of the defendant's l iab i l ity. 
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Nevertheless , N issan asserts that ,  i n  l i ght of the bankruptcy trust cla ims ,  

Carro l l  was jud ic ia l ly estopped from fi l i ng her lawsu it aga i nst N issan .  Not so .  

For jud ic ia l  estoppel to app ly ,  a party's posit ion must be incons istent with an 

earl ier posit ion that the party has taken .  Arikson v .  Ethan A l len ,  I nc . , 1 60 Wn .2d 

535 ,  538-39 ,  1 60 P . 3d 1 3  (2007) . Because Carro l l ' s  c la ims aga inst N issan were 

not ent i rely i nconsistent with her posit ion i n  the bankruptcy proceed ings ,  jud ic ia l  

estoppel does not app ly .  28 Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng  that 

Carro l l ' s  c la ims aga inst N issan both confl icted with and were mater ia l ly 

i ncons istent with the c la ims fi led in the bankruptcy proceed ings .  

E 

Carro l l  add it iona l ly contends that the tr ial court erred by fi nd i ng that she 

engaged i n  a d iscovery vio lat ion i n  response to style i nterrogatory 1 6 . Because 

Carro l l  p roperly responded to th is i nterrogatory,  we ag ree . 

Style i nterrogatory 1 6  stated : 

Provide the fo l lowi ng with respect to the asbestos-re lated d isease 
which forms the bas is of th is lawsu it .  (Do not refer defendants to 
you r  med ical records .  Provide specific answers . ) :  
(a) Natu re of asbestos-re lated d isease ; 
(b) Date d isease was d iagnosed ; 
(c) Phys ic ian or health care fac i l ity d iagnosing the asbestos­

re lated cond it ion ; and 
(d) Physic ians or health care fac i l it ies which have provided care 

or treatment for the asbestos-re lated cond it ion s ince 
d iagnosis .  

In response to style i nterrogatory 1 6 , Carro l l  stated : 

(a) Mesothe l ioma 
(b) 1 0/1 9/20 1 5  
(c) Lennart C Tran ,  M . D .-Overlake Med ica l  Center 

2 8  I ndeed , absent the bankru ptcy fi l i ngs ,  a l l  of Carro l l ' s  theories of l iab i l i ty cou ld  have 
been presented in a s ing le  lawsu it . It was the bankru ptcy fi l i ngs that prec luded th is .  

38 



No .  82245-4- 1/39 

(d) P lease see Decedent's Phys ic ian & Hosp ita l L ist attached 

The tria l  cou rt found that style i nterrogatory 1 6  req u i red Carro l l  to d isclose 

"the autopsy patho log ist who made a d iagnosis . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 1 5 . However, 

style i nterrogatory 1 6  is reasonably read to requ i re on ly d isclosure of any 

physic ians who d iagnosed and treated an asbestos-re lated cond it ion wh i le 

Lawrence was a l ive . I ndeed , a notable d ictionary defi nes "physic ian , "  i n  re levant 

part ,  as "a person ski l led in the art of healing : one du ly authorized to treat 

d isease . "  WEBSTER'S TH IRD NEW I NTERNATIONAL D ICTIONARY 1 707 (2002) 

(emphasis added) .  Add it iona l ly ,  " health care" is defi ned as " [t] he prevention, 

treatment, and management of i l l ness and the preservation of menta l  and 

phys ical wel l -be ing th rough the services offered by the med ical  and a l l ied hea lth 

profess ionals . "  AMERICAN HERITAGE D ICTIONARY 833 (3d ed . 1 992) (emphasis 

added) .  To the contrary ,  the term "autopsy" is defi ned as "to perform a 

postmortem examination upon . "  WEBSTER'S ,  supra ,  at 1 49 (emphasis added ) .  I t  

goes without saying that Lawrence was no longer a l ive when the autopsy was 

performed . Therefore , style i nterrogatory 1 6  d id not exp l icitly requ i re Carro l l  to 

d isclose i nformation regard ing the patho log ist who performed the autopsy. 

Accord ing ly ,  the trial cou rt erred by concl ud i ng that, pu rsuant to style 

i nterrogatory 1 6 , Carro l l  was requ i red to d isclose i nformat ion regard i ng the 

autopsy patho log ist who performed the autopsy on her husband's body. I n  

add ition , the tr ial cou rt erred by concl ud i ng that-by provid i ng truthfu l i nformation 

that was respons ive to a reasonable read i ng of the i nterrogato ry-Carro l l  wi l lfu l ly 

v io lated a d iscovery ob l igat ion .  
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F 

We next add ress Carro l l ' s  response to style i nterrogatory 20 ,  which 

requ i red d isclosure of Lawrence's death certificate . Because Carro l l  p roperly 

responded to th is i nterrogatory,  the tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng  that Carro l l  engaged 

in a d iscovery vio lat ion by provid ing a true copy of the death certificate to N issan . 

Style i nterrogatory 20 stated : " If a death certificate was p repared after the 

death of decedent ,  p lease attache [s ic] a copy of the death certificate . "  I n  

response ,  Carro l l  p rovided a true copy of her husband's death certificate . Th is 

death certificate erroneously stated , i n  one location ,  "Autopsy: No . "  The tria l  

cou rt found that I nterrogatory 20 " requ i red d isclosure of . . .  a Death Certificate 

that d id not conta in  fa lse i nformation that there was ' no  autopsy. "' F i nd i ng of 

Fact 1 5 . However, style i nterrogatory 20 requ i red no such th ing . I nstead , th is 

i nterrogatory requested a true copy of Lawrence's death certificate . Carro l l  

p rovided exactly that when she produced a true copy of  the death certificate . 

Carro l l  was i n  no way ob l igated to a lter a pub l ic document i n  order to answer the 

i nterrogatory. 29 

Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt erred by fi nd ing  that Carro l l  engaged in a 

d iscovery vio lat ion i n  respond ing to style i nterrogatory 20 .  

G 

We next add ress the tria l  cou rt's fi nd ing that "P la i ntiff's delays i n  . . .  

p rovid ing witnesses for deposit ions substant ia l ly prejud iced Defendants' ab i l ity to 

prepare for tria l . "  F ind ing  of Fact 33 .  The tria l  cou rt erred by fi nd i ng that any 

2 9  Aga in ,  the tria l  cou rt erred by ru l i ng  that N issan had proved that Carro l l  acted wi l l fu l ly i n  
a wrongfu l  way by  provid i ng  a true copy of  the  exact pub l i c  document req uested . 
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de lay i n  provid ing witnesses for deposit ion amou nted to a d iscovery vio lation . I n  

its motion to stri ke the comp la int ,  N issan asserted that Carro l l ' s  attorneys 

de layed making both Carro l l  and an expert witness , Dr .  David Zhang , ava i lab le 

for deposit ions .  However, N issan d id not assert that th is de lay vio lated any court 

order or  cou rt ru le .  See Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 584 . Because N issan d id not 

estab l ish that th is conduct amounted to a d iscovery v io lation , the tria l  cou rt 

improperly cons idered th is conduct i n  d ism iss ing Carro l l ' s  comp la int . 30 

IV 

Having ana lyzed the conduct that the tr ial cou rt improperly found to 

amount to d iscovery v io lations ,  we next ana lyze conduct that d id not amount to a 

wi l lfu l v io lation . I n  particu lar, we add ress the tria l  cou rt's fi nd ing that Carro l l  and 

her son ,  Doug las ,  engaged i n  a d iscovery vio lation by p rovid i ng "evas ive 

responses at deposit ions regard i ng an autopsy . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 33 .  Accord ing 

to the tria l  cou rt ,  " [ i ]t is not cred ib le that the deceased 's son or the widow who 

arranged for the autopsy with Karst wou ld not know that an autopsy had been 

performed on the i r  father and husband . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 1 6 . Because N issan 

does not estab l ish that Carro l l  and Doug las willfully provided evas ive deposit ion 

30  In  any event, N issan was not prejud iced by any delay i n  depos ing witnesses. N issan 
fi rst requested a deposit ion of Carro l l  i n  J u ne 20 1 9 . She was u lt imate ly deposed on December 
1 9 , 20 1 9 .  Dr . Zhang was deposed on March 1 6 , 2020 .  Because the cou rt reporter contracted 
COVI D-1 9 ,  a transcript of Dr. Zhang's deposit ion was never produced . Accord ing  to her 
declaration ,  Leeper "ca l led George Kim ,  P la i nt iffs counsel ,  aski ng to re-depose [Dr. Zhang] and 
he refused to offer Dr. Zhang for a re-deposit ion without a cou rt order. " 

The tria l  cou rt erred by fi nd ing  that N issan proved that it was prejud iced by the delay i n  
depos ing Carro l l  because N issan deposed her i n  December 20 1 9 , which was 1 1  months before 
tria l  was u lt imate ly set to commence i n  November 2020.  See Burnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 496. 
Add it ional ly ,  any prejud ice resu lt i ng from attorney Kim's refusal to offer Dr. Zhang for a second 
deposit ion cou ld have been cured by N issan seeki ng a cou rt order i n  the e ight  months that 
remained between Dr. Zhang's deposit ion on March 1 6 , 2020, and the date that tr ial was 
u lt imate ly set to commence. 
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responses , the tr ial cou rt erred by re lyi ng on this conduct as a bas is for stri k ing 

Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  

When determ in ing whether a tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by impos i ng 

a severe d iscovery sanction , we do not mere ly eva luate whether the tria l  cou rt's 

factual fi nd i ngs are supported by the evidence .  We must also determ ine whether 

the evidence supporti ng these fi nd i ngs j ustifies the sanct ion imposed . 3 1  I ndeed , 

when a tria l  cou rt imposes a d iscovery sanction , the sanction imposed "shou ld be 

proportiona l  to the d iscovery vio lation and the c i rcumstances of the case . "  

Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at  590 .  Fu rthermore ,  to  warrant the imposit ion of  a severe 

d iscovery sanction , the record must "clearly show" that "one party wi l lfu l ly or  

de l iberate ly v io lated the d iscovery ru les and orders . "  Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 

584 . I ndeed , when impos ing severe sanct ions under CR 37(b) , 

[t] he tria l  cou rt's d iscret ion is not without l im its . The ru le 
specifica l ly provides that the order must be "j ust . "  CR 37(b)(2) . 
Due process cons iderations a lso requ i re that before a tria l  cou rt 
d ism isses an action or countercla im ,  or  renders a j udgment by 
defau lt , there must have been "a wi l lfu l or  de l iberate refusal to obey 
a d iscovery order ,  which refusal substantia l ly p rej ud ices the 
opponent's ab i l ity to prepare for tria l . "  Associated Mortgage 
I nvestors v .  G . P .  Kent Constr. Co . , 1 5  Wn . App .  223 ,  228-29 ,  548 
P .2d 558 , review den ied , 87 Wn .2d 1 006 ( 1 976) . 

Sned igar v. Hodderson , 53 Wn . App .  476 , 487 , 768 P .2d 1 ( 1 989) , rev'd i n  part 

on other grounds ,  1 1 4 Wn .2d 1 53 ,  786 P .2d 78 1 ( 1 990) . 

To th is end , our  Supreme Cou rt has exp la i ned that '" [f]a i r  and reasoned 

resistance to d iscovery is not sanctionab le . "' Magana ,  1 67 Wn .2d at 584 

31  A fi nd ing  of a wi l l fu l  v io lat ion is req u i red to g rant the tria l  cou rt d iscret ion to cons ider the 
imposit ion of a most severe sanction .  However, the evidence supporti ng that fi nd i ng  is 
necessari ly cons idered i n  determ in i ng  whether the d iscretion bestowed was properly exercised . 
Here ,  the evidence i n  su pport was scant and hard ly clear. 
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(quoti ng F isons ,  1 22 Wn .2d at 346) . Fu rthermore ,  a party's mere fa i l u re to 

comp ly with a d iscovery ob l igation does not estab l ish a wi l lfu l v io lation : 

Th is cou rt has held that a party's fa i l u re to comp ly with a court 
order wi l l  be deemed wi l lfu l if it occu rs without reasonable 
justification .  Magana v.  Hyunda i  Motor Am . ,  1 67 Wn .2d 570 ,  584 ,  
220  P . 3d 1 9 1 (2009) (cit ing R ivers v .  Wash .  State Conf. of Mason 
Contractors , 1 45 Wn .2d 674 , 686-87 & n . 54 ,  4 1  P . 3d 1 1 75 (2002)) . 
It has more recently noted , however, that Bu rnet's wi l lfu l ness prong 
wou ld serve no pu rpose " if wi l lfu lness fo l lows necessari ly from the 
vio lat ion of a d iscovery order . " B la i r[ v .  Ta-Seatt le East No .  1 76] , 
1 7 1 Wn .2d [342 , ]350 n . 3 [ ,  254 P . 3d 797 (20 1 1 ) ] .  Someth ing more 
is needed . 

Jones v. C ity of Seattle , 1 79 Wn .2d 322 , 345 , 3 1 4  P . 3d 380 (20 1 3) .  

As such , we have exp la i ned that "Jones d isavowed the usua l  p resumption 

that v io lati ng a ru le constitutes a wi l lfu l act , ho ld ing instead that wi l lfu l ness must 

be demonstrated . "  Farrow v. Alfa Laval, I nc. , 1 79 Wn . App .  652 , 664 n . 8 ,  3 1 9  

P . 3d 86 1 (20 1 4) (cit ing Jones, 1 79 Wn .2d at 345) . 

Thus ,  i n  order to eva luate whether Carro l l  and Doug las provided wi l lfu l ly 

evas ive responses to deposit ion questions ,  we must exam ine the record to 

determ ine whether any uncerta i nty expressed i n  the i r  answers was j ustified or 

whether the record demonstrates that Carro l l  and Doug las engaged i n  a 

de l iberate attempt to not answer any questions truthfu l ly . 32 Here ,  the record is 

devo id of any evidence that either Carro l l  or  Doug las knew-at the t ime of the i r  

deposit ions-that an autopsy had been performed . Although Carro l l  s ig ned a 

form authoriz ing RPAS to conduct an autopsy, th is evidence ,  at most, i nd icates 

32 I n  response to N issan 's motion to stri ke the compla int ,  Carro l l ' s  attorneys arg ued th at 
" [b]oth Mrs .  Carro l l  and Doug Carro l l  testified at the i r  deposit ions that they thought an autopsy 
had been done ,  but were u nsure ;  there is no basis for N issan Defendants' content ion that th is 
was evasive , much less in tentiona l ly  so . "  
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that Carroll knew that an autopsy was authorized to be performed . It does not 

ind icate that Carroll knew that an autopsy was, in fact, performed . Moreover, at 

the time of her deposition, Carroll was over 80 years old and testifying over three 

and a half years after her husband had passed away. Carroll also signed the 

autopsy authorization form the same day that her husband died. As such, there 

is no support in the record that, when Carroll was deposed, she knew that an 

autopsy had,  in  fact, been performed. Additionally, the record does not contain 

any evidence ind icating that Douglas knew that an autopsy had been performed. 

With this context in mind, we determine whether Carroll and Douglas provided 

del iberately evasive responses to deposition questions. 

On March 26, 201 9, N issan deposed Douglas, who testified as fo llows: 

Q. Okay. And when [your father] passed, is there a 
reason,  then ,  why an autopsy was not performed? 

A. I thought there was. I -- I don't know. 
Q.  Other than anything told to you by an attorney or from 

Mr. Karst or his firm, did anyone else tell you not to have an 
autopsy performed? 

A. I wasn't involved. 
Q.  Who made that decision ,  do you know, regarding not 

having an autopsy? 
A. I 'm not -- my mom. I don't -- I don't know. 

(Emphasis added .) 

These responses were not willfully evasive. Indeed, before expressing 

uncertainty, Douglas testified that he thought that an autopsy had been 

performed. Despite this response, Nissan's attorney did not ask Douglas to 

clarify his answer. Instead, Nissan continued to ask two more questions 

presuming that an autopsy had not been performed.  These questions appear 

designed to be confusing and to make Douglas express uncertainty as to 
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whether an autopsy had been performed . Accordingly, Nissan fa iled to establish 

that Douglas provided willfully evasive responses during his deposition .  The 

answers were literally true and plainly set forth Douglas's knowledge of the 

situation .  

Next, on December 1 9 , 201 9,  Nissan deposed Carrol l ,  who testified as 

fo llows: 

Q. I understand that when your husband passed away 
there was no autopsy that was done. Is that correct? 

A. Yes, they did. 
Q.  They did an autopsy? 
A. I don't know. I thought they did. Maybe they didn't. 

I don't know. 
Q. Okay. But you know that you did not tell anybody "do 

not do an autopsy"? 
A. No,  I didn't tell anybody that. 

(Emphasis added .) 

The evidence in support of the trial court's finding is scant. Indeed , when 

Nissan's attorney asked whether it was correct that no autopsy had been 

performed, Carroll stated that an autopsy had, in fact, been performed . This was 

true. When Nissan's attorney pressed again as to whether an autopsy had been 

performed, Carroll expressed uncertainty but stated that she "thought they did." 

This response was both literally true and accurately set forth her knowledge of 

the situation. 

But even were we to conclude that Nissan established that Carroll and 

Douglas provided evasive responses to deposition questions, our view of the 

adequacy of this evidence, considered in the totality, to support the imposition of 

a most severe sanction would be the same. It was not. We say this because 
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N issan d id not estab l ish that it was substantia l ly p rej ud iced in its ab i l ity to 

prepare for tria l  as a resu lt of these responses . I ndeed , i n  sect ion V of th is 

op in ion ,  we exp la in  that N issan was not substantia l ly prejud iced by Carro l l ' s  

fa i l u re to d isclose the autopsy report i n  response to i nterrogatory 2 1 , a 

substantia l ly s im i lar  a l legat ion of m iscond uct .  

Add it iona l ly ,  the record i nd icates that N issan fa i led to m it igate any 

prejud ice resu lti ng from the deposit ion test imony of Carro l l  and Doug las .  

Notab ly ,  when N issan deposed Carro l l  and Doug las ,  N issan d id  not i nqu i re i nto 

whether any other members of Carro l l ' s  fam i ly may have dealt with matters 

regard i ng an autopsy . Yet such a s imp le i nqu i ry m ight have proved benefic ia l  to 

N issan .  I ndeed , the record i nd icates that Carro l l ' s  daughter ,  Dana,  both knew 

that an autopsy occu rred and hand led matters for the fam i ly re lated to the 

autopsy. 33 Although Leeper's declaration states that N issan deposed Dana,  a 

transcript of th is deposition test imony is not conta ined with i n  the record on 

appea l .  L ikewise , N issan d id not attach a transcript of th is deposit ion test imony 

to its motion to stri ke Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  Thus, both the record on appeal and 

the record that was before the tria l  cou rt are devo id of any ind icat ion as to 

whether N issan asked Dana about the autopsy. N issan does not exp la in  why it 

d id not i nc lude a copy of th is transcript in the record . 

33 I n  particu lar, the record conta ins an e-ma i l  message that Dana sent to Karst on J u ly 
1 9 , 20 1 6  where in  Dana provided Karst with a copy of the autopsy report. When N issan deposed 
Carro l l  and Doug las, N issan d id  not know about the existence of this e-mai l  message .  
Nevertheless, th is e-ma i l  message i nd icates that Dana both knew that the autopsy occu rred and 
hand led matters re lated to the autopsy. 
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When a tria l  cou rt fash ions a d iscovery sanction , "the sanct ion imposed 

shou ld be proportiona l  to the natu re of the d iscovery vio lation and the 

surrounding circumstances. "  Rivers , 1 45 Wn .2d at 695 (emphasis added) .  As 

such , the tria l  cou rt shou ld cons ider the other party's fa i l u re to m it igate . F isons 

Corp . , 1 22 Wn .2d at 356 . The tria l  cou rt shou ld have cons idered N issan 's fa i l u re 

to i nqu i re i nto whether any other fam i ly members may have hand led matters 

re lated to an autopsy . 

Moreover, the tr ial cou rt abused its d iscret ion by not consider ing whether 

a lesser sanction , Carro l l ' s  p roposed adverse i nference instruction , wou ld  have 

cu red any prejud ice resu lti ng from the deposit ion responses g iven by Carro l l  and 

Douglas .  See Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 494 ;  Teter, 1 74 Wn .2d at 2 1 6- 1 7 .  

Fo r  a l l  of these reasons ,  the tria l  cou rt improperly re l ied on these 

deposit ion responses as a basis for stri k ing Carro l l ' s  comp la int .  

V 

F ina l ly ,  we add ress various conduct that the tria l  cou rt properly found to 

amount to d iscovery v io lations .  Because N issan does not estab l ish that it was 

substantia l ly prejud iced in its ab i l ity to prepare for tria l  as a resu lt of these 

vio lations ,  the tr ial cou rt erred by re lyi ng on these vio lat ions as a basis for 

d ism iss ing Carro l l ' s  c la ims .  

A 

We fi rst add ress Carro l l ' s  response to style i nterrogatory 2 1 , which 

requ i red d isclosure of the autopsy report .  Carro l l ' s  response to th is i nterrogatory 

amounted to a d iscovery vio lation . However, because N issan was not 
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substantia l ly prejud iced by Carro l l ' s  u ntruthfu l response to th is i nterrogatory ,  the 

tria l  cou rt erred by re lyi ng on her response as a j ustificat ion for d ism issa l .  

Style i nterrogatory 2 1  stated : 

If an autopsy was performed on decedent , p lease attach a copy of 
the autopsy report or  state the fo l lowing : 
(a) The person (s) perform ing such autopsy, inc lud i ng the i r  

emp loyer, title ,  p rofessiona l  affi l iations ,  etc . ; 
(b) Date on which the autopsy was performed ; 
(c) The p lace where the autopsy was performed ; and 
(d) The bas ic resu lts , fi nd ings ,  and conclus ions of the autopsy 

report .  

In response to style i nterrogatory 2 1 , Carro l l  stated , "Not App l icab le . "  

The tria l  cou rt found that style i nterrogatory 2 1  requ i red Carro l l  to d isclose 

the autopsy report and that Carro l l  "s ig ned off'' on a fa lse response to th is 

i nterrogatory.  F i nd i ng of Fact 1 5 . The tria l  cou rt also found that " [w] ith ho ld ing an 

autopsy report . . .  presumab ly cou ld affect the outcome of the case . "  F i nd i ng of 

Fact 34 . Add it iona l ly ,  the tria l  cou rt found :  

As of the date of th is hearing (October 1 6 , 2020) , P la intiff sti l l  has 
not prod uced the autopsy report to defendants desp ite d iscovery 
requests , supp lemental requests , and the deposit ions of experts 
who testified under the fa lse impress ion that no autopsy had been 
performed . 

F i nd i ng of Fact 7 .  

Proof that Carro l l  herself knew the correct answer to th is i nterrogatory is 

absent from the record . However, by s ign i ng off on the response to th is 

i nterrogatory,  Carro l l  cou ld reasonably be charged with any knowledge that 

reasonable d i l igence on her part wou ld have uncovered . See F isons Corp . .  1 22 

Wn .2d at 343-44 ; CR 26(g ) ;  CR 33(a) . I n  th is way, her answer cou ld be viewed 

as a d iscovery vio lation . However, N issan fa i led to demonstrate that Carro l l ' s  
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response to th is i nterrogatory substantia l ly prejud iced its ab i l ity to prepare for 

tria l . 

I ndeed , the tria l  cou rt found that N issan came i nto possess ion of "the 

autopsy report on the i r  own in 20 1 9 . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 8. Th is report stated that 

Lawrence's cause of death was "MAL IGNANT PLEURAL M ESOTH EL IOMA 

WITH M ETASTAS IS . "  The report d id not state which type of asbestos fi bers 

caused the mesothe l ioma.  

N issan asserts that it obta i ned the autopsy report on J u ly 1 3 , 2020 ,  and 

that the tria l  cou rt m istaken ly found that it obta i ned the report i n  20 1 9 . 34 

However, N issan does not ass ign error to the tria l  cou rt's fi nd ing that it obta i ned 

the report in 20 1 9 .  As such , it is a verity on appea l .  See Pierce , 1 5  Wn . App .  2d 

at 429 .  In any event, regard less of when N issan obta i ned the autopsy report ,  the 

record i nd icates that th is report was ne ither benefic ia l  nor prejud ic ia l  to N issan 's 

case . 

Notab ly ,  d u ring the heari ng on N issan 's motion to stri ke Carro l l ' s  

comp la int ,  N issan 's attorney stated that, because N issan was not i n  possess ion 

of any rema in i ng t issue samples ,  he d id not know whether the autopsy report 

was prejud ic ia l  to its case : 

TH E COU RT: Okay. So does the autopsy report he lp you 
or hu rt you if it were to come i nto tria l? 

[N ISSAN'S COUNSEL] :  We don ' t  know yet because what 
we need is we need the tissue that shou ld have been preserved . 

34 N issan 's open ing  brief states: "On J u ly 1 3 , 2020,  after many months of investigation ,  
N issan located and obta i ned the  autopsy report . "  B r .  o f  Resp't a t  44 . Add it iona l ly ,  i n  its reply 
brief on cross appea l ,  N issan states: " N issan d id  not obta in  a copy of the autopsy report from Dr. 
Hartenste in  u nt i l  July 13, 2020. " Reply Br . of Resp't at 1 1 .  
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Th is answer makes c lear that the autopsy report itself was "neutra l "  i n  its 

impact. 

Because N issan 's counsel expressed that he d id not know whether the 

autopsy report was either benefic ia l  or  prej ud ic ia l  to N issan , the tria l  cou rt 

decl i ned to stri ke the autopsy report : 

TH E COU RT: . . .  I cons idered stri k ing the autopsy report as 
a sanction , but I don 't know that that's a sanction . [N issan 's 
attorney] hasn ' t  decided yet whether it's a good th ing or a bad th i ng 
for h is case , so stri k ing the autopsy report m ight have no effect on 
anyth ing and wou ldn 't be a sanct ion of any ki nd . I t  wou ld j ust be -­
it cou ld end up  being a p lus for the defendants -- or for the p la intiffs ,  
so  far as  I know. 

In weigh i ng the importance of any destroyed or concealed evidence ,  a tr ial 

cou rt shou ld consider whether such "evidence gave the cu lpab le party an 

i nvestigative advantage . "35 Cook, 1 90 Wn . App .  at 462 . N issan represented 

du ring the hearing on its motion to strike the comp la int that the content of the 

autopsy report appeared to be , by itself, enti rely neutra l .  N issan 's counsel fu rther 

exp la i ned that ,  to determ ine the evident iary value of the autopsy report ,  N issan 

wou ld need access to tissue samp les that no longer existed . However, as 

a l ready exp la i ned , there is no i nd icat ion in the record that, had Carro l l  t imely 

d isclosed the autopsy report ,  N issan wou ld have ga i ned access to any add it ional  

mater ia l  that wou ld have benefited its ab i l ity to prepare for tria l . Therefore ,  

N issan fa i led to  estab l ish that Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to  d isclose the autopsy report 

prejud iced its ab i l ity to prepare for tria l . 

35 Although Cook add resses whether a party engaged i n  spol iation by destroying 
evidence ,  "essentia l ly  the same consequences fo l low from the bad fa ith concealment of evidence 
(typica l ly  du ri ng  d iscovery) . "  TEGLAND ,  supra ,  at 281 . 
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Nevertheless , the tr ial cou rt determ i ned that N issan was prejud iced by 

Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to d isclose the autopsy report because both Carro l l ' s  expert 

witnesses and N issan's expert witnesses were deposed under the presumption 

that no autopsy had occu rred : 

The P la intiff's experts i n  th is case were h i red to g ive op in ions ,  not 
knowing there was an autopsy. They based the i r  op in ions on the 
i nterrogatories and the death certificate , which fa lsely stated there 
had been no autopsy. The i r  op in ions were based on fa lse 
evidence .  Defendants' experts also d id not know there had been 
an autopsy. P la i ntiff's counsel d id noth ing to correct th is 
m is impress ion before ,  d u ring , or  after the experts' deposit ions .  

F i nd i ng of Fact 29 .  

However, " the fact that ne ither party presents the test imony of an expert 

who examined the evidence before its destruct ion d im i n ishes its importance . "  

Cook, 1 90 Wn . App .  at 462 . Because neither party's experts were aware that an 

autopsy had occu rred , the s ign ificance of the autopsy report was d im i n ished . 

But even were we to take N issan at its word that it obtai ned the autopsy 

report on J u ly 1 3 , 2020,  Leeper deposed one of Carro l l ' s  expert witnesses-Dr. 

Mo l i ne-on Ju ly 3 1 , 2020 ,  but d id not question the doctor about the report .  To 

the contrary ,  Leeper asked Dr .  Mo l i ne two questions as if no autopsy had been 

performed : 

Q .  Thank you .  Ear l ier ,  when you were testify ing , you 
mentioned briefly about someth ing you wou ld have learned -- you 
cou ld have learned more if there had been an autopsy, and I just 
want to fo l low up  a l itt le b it on that. To your knowledge, you had no 
information whether an autopsy was performed in this case, 
correct? 

A. Correct . 
Q .  You wou ld have -- had there been an autopsy, there 

wou ld be several he lpfu l p ieces of i nformation you cou ld have 
obta ined from an autopsy, rig ht? 
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(Emphasis added . )  

Leeper proceeded to  ask Dr. Mo l i ne  severa l questions about the k ind of 

asbestos used i n  sh ipyards du ring World War I I .  Then ,  approximate ly two 

months before tr ial was set to commence ,  Leeper attached th is deposit ion 

test imony to the motion to stri ke Carro l l ' s  compla int i n  support of her argument 

that N issan was prejud iced by Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to d isclose the autopsy report .  I n  

particu lar, Leeper c la imed that, before she obta i ned the autopsy report ,  "N issan 

Entit ies had a l ready deposed P la i ntiff's expert witnesses" and " [a] I I  testified they 

d id not know of an autopsy i n  th is case . "  I n  support of th is assertion ,  Leeper 

cited to the deposit ion test imony of Dr .  Mo l ine .  Th is cond uct goes far beyond a 

fa i l u re to m it igate-rather, Leeper engaged i n  an apparent tactical decis ion to 

self-create prejud ice .  The tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by not considering th is 

conduct .  

Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt erred by concl ud i ng that N issan 's ab i l ity to 

prepare for tria l  was prejud iced by Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to d isclose the autopsy 

report . 36 

B 

We next add ress Carro l l ' s  response to style i nterrogatory 22 , which 

requested that Carro l l  p rovide i nformat ion regard i ng any tissue samp les that 

36 Moreover, as previously exp la ined ,  the tr ial cou rt d id not consider Carro l l ' s  proposal for 
an adverse inference j u ry i nstruction , which wou ld  have more than adequate ly cu red any 
prejud ice resu lt i ng from Carro l l 's  fa i l u re to d isclose the autopsy report. I ndeed , the proposed 
instruction wou ld  have provided the j u ry with an addit ional  inference that the autopsy report itself 
did not conta i n .  Therefore ,  such an instruction wou ld  have p laced N issan i n  a better position than 
it wou ld  have been had Carro l l  d isclosed the existence of the autopsy report to N issan .  
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were reta ined pursuant to an autopsy of Lawrence. Carro ll 's response to this 

interrogatory amounted to a discovery violation .  However, because Nissan was 

not substantially prejudiced by Carrol l 's response, the trial court erred by relying 

on her response as a basis for granting Nissan's motion requesting the extreme 

sanction of striking Carrol l 's complaint. 

Style interrogatory 22 stated : 

If an autopsy was performed on decedent, were any specimens or 
tissue samples taken or reta ined? If so, identify: 
(a) The nature of the specimens or tissue samples taken or 

reta ined; 
(b) The person at whose direction such specimens or tissue 

samples were taken or reta ined; 
(c) The purpose for taking or retaining such specimens or tissue 

samples; and 
(d) The present location and custodian of al l  such specimens or 

tissue samples. 

Carroll responded to style interrogatory 22 by stating, "Not Applicable." 

The trial court found that style interrogatory 22 required disclosure of "any 

. . .  residual tissue" and that Carroll "signed off' on the "false response[]" to this 

interrogatory. Finding of Fact 1 5 . The trial court also found that "P laintiff should 

have disclosed the fact of an autopsy and given opposing counsel information 

regarding the report, pathologist, tissue, and death certificate, but did not." 

Finding of Fact 23. These findings were correct. 

However, Nissan does not establish prejudice in its abi lity to prepare for 

trial as a result of the answer. Indeed, the trial court found that Nissan "had 

located the autopsy report on their own in 201 9." This report provided the name 

of the entity where the autopsy was performed, the name of the physician 

assistant who performed the autopsy (Frances Zita no), the name of the medical 
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doctor who s igned the autopsy report (Dr. Brent Staggs) ,  and the specific types 

of tissue that were retai ned fo l lowing the autopsy. The report also stated that 

" [t] he fam i ly" requested that the autopsy be performed . I n  add it ion to th is report ,  

accord ing to a declaration of Leeper, N issan acqu i red "documents and 35 s l ides" 

from the autopsy. 

In l i ght of these c i rcumstances, there are several reasons why N issan d id 

not estab l ish prej ud ice i n  its ab i l ity to prepare for tria l  as the resu lt of Carro l l ' s  

improper response. F i rst, because N issan acqu i red the autopsy report sometime 

i n  20 1 9 ,  N issan had at least 1 1  months to obta in  any fu rther i nformation 

regard i ng the autopsy before tria l  was u lt imate ly set to commence on November 

9 ,  2020 .  As such , N issan was not g reatly prejud iced by Carro l l ' s  response .  See 

Bu rnet, 1 3 1 Wn .2d at 496 . 

Second , desp ite the sig n ificant t ime that remai ned before tria l , the record 

conta ins no i nd ication that N issan made any effort to depose either Zitano or Dr .  

Staggs .  The tria l  cou rt erred by not consider ing N issan 's fa i l u re to act so as to 

m it igate any foreseeable prejud ice in prepar ing for tria l . See F isons Corp . , 1 22 

Wn .2d at 356 . 

F ina l ly ,  there is no i nd icat ion i n  the record that N issan wou ld have been 

able to test any t issue samp les had Carro l l  p rovided an enti rely truthfu l response 

to style i nterrogatory 22 . As a l ready exp la i ned , the record is devo id of any 
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i nd ication that any tissue samp les that wou ld  have been usefu l to N issan existed 

when th is lawsu it commenced . 37 

Accord ing ly ,  the tr ial cou rt erred by concl ud i ng that N issan was prejud iced 

by Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to provide a truthfu l answer to style i nterrogatory 22 and , thus ,  

erred by viewing the transg ress ion as justify ing the extreme sanct ion of 

d ism iss ing a l l  causes of action . 

C 

F ina l ly ,  we add ress the tr ial cou rt's fi nd ing that "P la i ntiff d isclosed 

witnesses six weeks to six months after dead l i nes set in Orders Sett ing Civ i l  

Asbestos Case Schedu les . The tria l  date was conti nued twice i n  part d ue to 

P la i ntiff's d iscovery de lays . "  F i nd i ng of Fact 26 . Carro l l ' s  attorneys d isclosed the 

l ist of tria l  witnesses to N issan on May 29, 20 1 9 ,  wh ich was six weeks after the 

Apri l 1 5 , 20 1 9  d isclosure dead l i ne .  Add it ional ly ,  these attorneys d isclosed the l ist 

of actua l  tria l  witnesses on February 25 ,  2020 ,  which was eight weeks after the 

December 30, 20 1 9  dead l i ne .  This conduct amounted to a d iscovery vio lation . 

However, there is no i nd ication i n  the record that these delays resu lted from 

Carro l l ' s  own conduct as opposed to the cond uct of her attorneys . Moreover ,  

when Carro l l ' s  attorneys d isclosed the actua l  tria l  witnesses to N issan , 

approximate ly e ight months remained before tria l  was u lt imate ly set to 

commence on November 9 ,  2020 .  As such , N issan d id not show that it was i n  

3 7  I n  a n y  event, a n y  prejud ice resu lti ng from N issan 's i nab i l ity to test a n y  rema in ing  tiss ue 
samples wou ld have been more than adequate ly cured by adoption of Carro l l ' s  proposed adverse 
inference j u ry instruct ion as a remedy. 
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fact prejud iced in its ab i l ity to prepare for tr ial by th is de lay .  See Burnet, 1 3 1 

Wn .2d at 496 . 

VI 

For the reasons set forth above , the tria l  cou rt erred by stri k ing Carro l l ' s  

comp la int .  I ndeed , the conduct that the tria l  cou rt found to be the most 

damn ing-Carro l l ' s  fa i l u re to g ive notice of or reta i n  t issue samp les from an 

autopsy that occu rred approximate ly two years before th is l it igation 

commenced-d id not ,  actua l ly ,  amount to a vio lat ion at a l l .  In fact , most of the 

conduct that the tria l  cou rt found amounted to d iscovery vio lat ions were not 

actua l ly v io lations .  As for the conduct that the tr ial cou rt properly found to 

amount to d iscovery v io lations ,  N issan fa i led to estab l ish either that th is conduct 

was wi l lfu l or  that th is conduct substantia l ly prej ud iced its ab i l ity to prepare for 

tria l . Therefore ,  none of the conduct that Carro l l  herself engaged i n  met a l l  of the 

factors that are requ i red to be satisfied u nder Bu rnet i n  order for a tria l  cou rt to 

impose severe d iscovery sanctions .  Accord i ng ly ,  the tr ial cou rt erred by 

pun ish ing  Carro l l  by impos ing on her the most severe d iscovery sanct ion 

ava i lab le .  Th is was especia l ly so g iven the ava i lab i l ity of a lesser sanct ion-the 

adverse i nference instruct ion-that the tria l  cou rt was requ i red to account for 

prior to ordering d ism issal of the lawsu it .  See Bu rnet ,  1 3 1 Wn .2d at 494 ; Teter, 

1 74 Wn .2d at 2 1 6- 1 7 .  

To  be  clear, however, the tria l  cou rt d id not err by  sanction ing Carro l l ' s  

attorneys . I ndeed , each of these attorneys engaged i n  var ious forms of 

wrongdo ing , a l l  of wh ich was properly pun ished by the tria l  cou rt .  Most notably ,  

56 



No .  82245-4- 1/57 

the tria l  cou rt found that Karst both knew that an autopsy had been performed 

and that he was in possess ion of the autopsy report .  Th is fi nd ing is supported by 

the record . I ndeed , the autopsy was paid for with Karst's cred it card . 

Add it iona l ly ,  i n  J u ly 20 1 6 , Carro l l ' s  daughter ,  Dana ,  sent a copy of the autopsy 

report to Karst via an e-ma i l  message .  

Desp ite the fact Karst possessed the autopsy report and knew that an 

autopsy had been performed , Karst prepared for h is c l ient and subm itted 

untruthfu l responses to i nterrogatories 2 1  and 22 , which requested , respective ly, 

a copy of the autopsy report and i nformation re lated to any t issue samp les 

reta i ned from the autopsy. 38 I n  response to both of these i nterrogatories , the 

c l ient's answer, p repared by Karst , was , "Not App l icable . "  Add itiona l ly ,  Karst was 

present at the deposit ion du ring which Doug las expressed uncerta inty as to 

whether an autopsy occu rred . I nstead of i nform ing N issan that an autopsy had 

been performed , Karst remained s i lent . Th is conduct was properly pun ished by 

the tria l  cou rt .  

The tria l  cou rt also found that Kim knew that an autopsy had been 

performed . F i nd i ngs of Fact 1 0  and 1 6 . This fi nd ing is also supported by the 

record . I ndeed , Kim not on ly worked closely with Karst on th is case , but he was 

also an attorney at Karst's law fi rm . I n  a declaration ,  an employee at an 

i nformat ion technology consu lti ng company h i red by Karst's law fi rm stated that 

a l l  of the fi rm 's e-mai ls  were stored on the fi rm's server. As such , there is 

3 8  Lawyer Karst was respons ib le for h is own actions and those of h is staff, associates, 
and partners .  
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sufficient support i n  the record that Kim both had access to the autopsy report 

and knew that an autopsy had been performed . 39 

Even though Kim knew that an autopsy had been performed , Kim d id not 

d isclose the existence of the autopsy report to N issan du ring Carro l l ' s  deposit ion . 

I nstead , Kim remained s i lent when Carro l l  expressed uncerta i nty as to whether 

an autopsy was performed . Th is conduct was also properly pun ished by the tria l  

cou rt .  

F ina l ly ,  the tr ia l  cou rt properly sanct ioned Owens as wel l .  Although the 

tria l  cou rt d id not fi nd that Owens knew that an autopsy had been performed , 

Owens was the on ly one of these th ree lawyers who was a local member of the 

Wash ington bar . As such , Owens was , to some deg ree , respons ib le for the 

m iscond uct of Karst and Kim .  See APR 8(b) ( i i ) .4° Furthermore ,  the tria l  cou rt 

39 When a lawyer works close ly on a case with an associated lawyer who possesses 
information about a fact, that lawyer may be presumed to a lso possess this i nformation .  I ndeed , 
u nder the Ru les of Professional Conduct (RPC) ,  a lawyer's knowledge of a fact may be inferred 
from the c ircumstances . RPC 1 . 0A(f) . Fu rthermore ,  the Restatement {Th i rd) of the Law 
Govern ing Lawyers (Am . Law I nst. 2000) provides that a lawyer may be presumed to possess 
information that is in the possession of a lawyer with whom they are closely associated : 

If the facts warrant ,  a fi nder of fact may i nfer that the lawyer ga i ned information 
possessed by other associated lawyers , such as other lawyers in the same law 
fi rm , where such an inference wou ld be warranted due  to the particu lar 
c i rcumstances of the persons worki ng together. Thus, for example ,  i n  particu lar 
c i rcumstances it may be reasonable to infer  that a lawyer who reg u larly 
consu lted about a matter with another lawyer i n  the same law fi rm became aware 
of the other lawyer's i n formation about a fact. 

RESTATEMENT, supra ,  § 94 cmt. g .  

APR B .  

4 0  Th is  ru le provides: 
(b) Exception for Particular Action or Proceed ing .  A lawyer member 

i n  good stand ing  of . . .  the bar of any other  state or territory of the U n ited States 
or of the D istrict of Colu mbia . . .  may appear as a lawyer in any act ion or 
proceed ing on ly 

( i i )  i n  associat ion with an active lawyer member of the Bar, who sha l l  be 
the lawyer of record there i n ,  respons ib le for the conduct thereof. 
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properly held a l l  th ree lawyers accountable for the i r  fa i l u re to t imely d isclose 

witnesses to N issan . 

I n  l i ght of th is m isconduct ,  the tria l  cou rt properly held these attorneys 

accountable for the i r  wrongdo ing . I ndeed , both Karst and Kim engaged i n  

d ishonest conduct by  concea l i ng  the  existence of the  autopsy report. On 

remand , the tria l  cou rt may elect to  impose fu rther sanctions aga inst these 

attorneys . However, the record does not support a determ inat ion that Carro l l  

herself was cu lpable to  the deg ree that wou ld warrant the d ism issal of  her  

comp la int .  Nor  does th is record support the stri k ing of  Carro l l ' s  comp la int based 

on the actions of her lawyers . 

VI I 

On cross appea l ,  N issan contends that the tria l  cou rt erred by l im it ing the 

sanct ion award imposed on Owens to $ 1 , 000 .  Th is is so ,  N issan asserts , 

because Owens was requ i red to be jo i ntly and severa l ly l iab le for h is co­

counse l 's m isconduct. Both because the tr ial cou rt was not requ i red to hold 

Owens jo i ntly and severa l ly l iab le and because the tria l  cou rt's sanct ion was 

reasonably proportional  to Owens's participat ion i n  h is  co-counsel 's m iscond uct ,  

we d isag ree . 

When reviewing an award of attorney fees, we fi rst review de nova 

whether a legal bas is exists for the award . P ierce , 1 5  Wn . App .  2d at 446-47 .  

We then "apply an abuse of  d iscret ion standard to a decis ion to award or deny 

attorney fees and the reasonab leness of any such attorney fee award . "  P ierce , 

1 5  Wn . App .  2d at 447 . 
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N issan asserts that, pu rsuant to APR 8(b) ( i i ) , the tria l  cou rt erred by not 

ho ld ing Owens jo i ntly and severa l ly l iab le for the fee sanct ions imposed on Karst 

and Kim .  Accord ing to N issan ,  because Owens was responsib le for Karst and 

Kim under th is ru le ,  the tria l  cou rt should have held Owens jo i ntly and severa l ly 

l iab le for the $76 ,477 .47 fee sanct ion that the cou rt imposed on Carro l l ,  Karst , 

and Kim .  However, noth ing i n  APR 8(b)( i i) requ i res a tria l  cou rt to hold a lawyer 

who is an active member of the Wash i ngton bar jo i ntly and severa l ly l iab le for the 

m iscond uct of an attorney for whom he or she has assumed respons ib i l ity . 

Therefore , N issan 's argument is unpersuas ive . 

Add it iona l ly ,  the tr ial cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion by l im it ing the 

attorney fee award that was imposed on Owens to $ 1 , 000 .  As a l ready exp la i ned , 

the tria l  cou rt found that Karst and Kim knew that an autopsy had been 

performed yet fa i led to d isclose the existence of the autopsy report to N issan .  

No s im i lar  fi nd ing was made with regard to Owens . Accord ing ly ,  the tria l  cou rt 

acted with i n  its d iscret ion by impos i ng a lesser sanct ion on Owens .41  

41  N issan a lso requests an award of  attorney fees on appeal aga inst Carro l l  pursuant to 
RAP 1 8 . 1  (a) . Because N issan does not preva i l  on appea l ,  we deny th is request. 

Add it ional ly ,  on October 1 9 , 202 1 , N issan fi led a motion requesti ng that we stri ke 
Carro l l ' s  reply brief and impose sanctions on Carro l l  pu rsuant to RAP 1 0 . 7 .  Because Carro l l ' s  
reply brief conforms with the ru les of  appe l late procedu re ,  we deny N issan 's motion .  I n  an 
answer to N issan 's motion , Carro l l  suggests that N issan 's motion shou ld  be stricken .  To the 
extent that Carro l l  requests that we stri ke N issan 's motion , we deny this request. 

F ina l ly ,  on January 26, 2022 , N issan fi led a letter to address certa i n  factual questions 
ra ised at ora l  arg u ment .  The fo l lowi ng day, Carro l l  fi led a mot ion to stri ke N issan 's letter, 
asserti ng that the letter amounted to an unauthorized su pplementa l  brief in v io lat ion of RAP 1 0 . 1 .  
Because N issan 's letter d id not amount to an u nauthorized supp lemental brief and was l im ited to 
add ress ing factual questions ra ised at ora l  arg ument ,  we deny Carro l l ' s  motion .  
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Affi rmed in part, reversed in  part, and remanded for fu rther proceed ings 

consistent  with th is opin ion . 

WE CONCUR: 
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